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Going to a Council Meeting
Members of the community are encouraged to engage with Council’s monthly meetings. You 
can submit questions online or attend in person. 

Our website offers handy fact sheets with information about what to expect at a Council Meeting, 
including how to participate in Public Question Time.

After the meeting, you’ll find minutes and an audio recording online. 

Hard copies of agendas and minutes are also available to view at the Council offices.

Learn more

Click here to find fact sheets about attending a Council meeting, or to submit a question online. 

A copy of the latest agenda and minutes are available to view at the Council offices in Westbury. 
Click here to view agendas and minutes online, or listen to audio of our meetings.

You can also contact the Office of the General Manager by phone on (03) 6393 5300, or email 
ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au to submit a question or learn more about opportunities to speak at a 
Council Meeting.

Public Access to Chambers
Where there is a need to manage demand, seating will be prioritised as follows:

For planning decisions: applicants and representors have first priority. A representor is a 
community member who writes to Council to object to or support a planning application 
(statutory timeframes apply for becoming a representor during the planning process). 

For all decisions: Members of the media are welcome to take up any seats not in use by the 
public, or email ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au to request specific information about a Council 
decision. Media requests received by email before close of business (or the end of the 
meeting) will receive a same-day response.

Attendees are requested to consider the health and wellbeing of others in attendance.  

If you are symptomatic or in an infectious state then you are requested to stay away or follow 
good-practices to minimise risk to others. This includes measures such as social distancing, 
wearing of face-masks and the use of hand sanitisers. 

http://www.meander.tas.gov.au/council-meeting-guidelines
http://www.meander.tas.gov.au/minutes-and-agendas
mailto:ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au
mailto:ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au
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Conduct at Council Meetings
Visitors are reminded that Council Meetings are a place of work for staff and Councillors. 

Council is committed to meeting its responsibilities as an employer and as host of this important 
public forum, by ensuring that all present meet expectations of mutually respectful and orderly 
conduct.

It is a condition of entry to the Council Chambers that you cooperate with any directions or 
requests from the Chairperson or Council officers.

The Chairperson is responsible for maintaining order at Council Meetings. The General Manager 
is responsible for health, wellbeing and safety of all present. The Chairperson or General Manager 
may require a person to leave Council premises following any behaviour that falls short of these 
expectations. It is an offence to hinder or disrupt a Council Meeting.

Access & Inclusion
Council supports and accommodates inclusion for all who seek participation in Council Meetings, 
as far as is practicable.

Any person with a disability or other specific needs is encouraged to contact Council before the 
meeting on (03) 6393 5300 or via email to ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au to discuss how we can best 
assist you with access.

mailto:ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au


 

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 5

Certificate of Qualified Advice
A General Manager must ensure any advice, information or recommendation is given to Council 
by a person with the necessary qualifications or experience: section 65, Local Government Act 
1993.

Council must not decide on any matter without receiving qualified advice, or a certification from 
the General Manager.

Accordingly, I certify that, where required:

(i) the advice of a qualified person was obtained in preparation of this Agenda; and
(ii) this advice was taken into account in providing general advice to Meander Valley Council; 

and
(iii) A copy of any such advice (or a written transcript or summary of oral advice) is included 

with the agenda item.

 

Jonathan Harmey
GENERAL MANAGER



 

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 6

Table of Contents

Meeting Open - Attendance & Apologies........................................................................................8

Acknowledgment of Country ................................................................................................................8

Confirmation of Minutes.........................................................................................................................8

Declarations of Interest ...........................................................................................................................8

Council Workshop Report ......................................................................................................................9

Mayor & Councillor Report ....................................................................................................................9

Petitions......................................................................................................................................................13

Community Representations ...............................................................................................................13

Public Question Time.............................................................................................................................14

Councillor Question Time .....................................................................................................................17

Planning Authority Reports .................................................................................................................20

744 & 943 Birralee Road Westbury, 1210, 1410, 1470, 1471, 1510, 1517, 1554, 1572, 1663 
& 1751 Birralee Road & 44 Delantys Road Birralee .....................................................20

Development & Regulatory Services..............................................................................................247

Council Submission to Public Consultation of Draft Development Assessment Panel 
(DAP) Framework.................................................................................................................247

Corporate Services...............................................................................................................................283

Council Audit Panel Minutes of Meeting...............................................................................283

2022-23 Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report................................291

Motion to Close Meeting ...................................................................................................................301

Closed Session Agenda.......................................................................................................................301

Meeting End ...........................................................................................................................................301



 

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 7

Meeting Open - Attendance & Apologies

Acknowledgment of Country
Council acknowledges the Pallitore and Panninher past peoples and the traditional 
owners and custodians of the land on which we gather for the Council Meeting, with 
respects paid to elders past and present and extended to all Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples present.

Confirmation of Minutes
Motion Receive and confirm minutes of the last Ordinary Council Meeting held 

10 October 2023.  

Vote Simple majority 

Declarations of Interest
Nil received prior to agenda publication.
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Council Workshop Report
Topics Discussed – 24 October 2024

External Presentation: Department of Justice Northern Correctional Facility Update

Review of Council Policy No. 24

Bracknell Hall Opening Debrief

Community Strategic Plan Development

Deloraine Recreation Precinct Masterplan Update

Bicycle Lanes Westbury Road, Prospect Vale

Public Toilets Lake Parangana & Lake Rowallan

Council Submission to Public Consultation of Draft Development Assessment Panel 
Framework

Items for Noting

Roxford Road Bridge, Quamby Brook
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Mayor & Councillor Report

Councillor Official Activities and Engagements Since Last Meeting

11 October 2023
Meeting: Carrick Community Hall
Attended by:  
Cr House
Cr Synfield

17 October 2023
Meeting: Northern Tasmanian Development Corporation Lunch
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Deputy Mayor Cameron 
Cr Dornauf
Cr Dudman
Cr House
Cr Temple
Cr Loader
Cr Synfield

Meeting: MVC Flood Debrief - Emergency Preparedness Community Information Session
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Deputy Mayor Cameron
Cr Loader
Cr House 
Cr Synfield

19 October 2023
Meeting: Mole Creek Progress Association
Attended by: 
Cr Loader
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24 October 2023
Council Event: Citizenship Ceremony
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Deputy Mayor Cameron 
Cr Dudman
Cr House
Cr Loader

Meeting: Aged Care Deloraine AGM
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston

25 October 2023
Meeting: Great Western Tiers Tourism Association
Attended by: 
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman

Meeting: Aged Care Deloraine AGM
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Cr Dudman

Meeting: Rotary Club of Westbury
Attended by: 
Cr Dudman

27 October 2023
Community Event: Westbury Primary School Fair
Attended by: 
Cr Loader

Community Event: Meander Valley Art Awards Opening Night
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman

29 October 2023
Meeting: Rotary Club of Westbury Car Show
Attended by: 
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman
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1 November 2023
Meeting: LGAT Conference
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman

Meeting: Blackstone Heights Community Meeting
Attended by: 
Cr House
Cr Synfield

2 November 2023
Meeting: LGAT Conference
Attended by: 
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman

Meeting: Meeting with Hon Kristy McBain MP, Federal Minister for Local Government 
Attended by: 
Cr Loader
Cr House
Cr Dudman
Cr Synfield

9 November 2023
Meeting: Westbury Backyard Bandicoots
Attended by: 
Cr Loader

10 November 2023
Meeting: Westbury Show and Book Launch
Attended by: 
Cr Dudman 

13 November 2023
Community Event: November Community Bank Deloraine and Districts Grants Presentation
Attended by: 
Mayor Johnston
Cr Loader
Cr Dudman

Councillor Announcements & Acknowledgements
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Petitions
Nil received prior to agenda publication.

For further information about petitions, refer to the Local Government Act 1993: ss57-
60A.

Community Representations
Nil requests received.

Community representations are an opportunity for community members or groups to 
request up to three minutes to address Council on a topic of particular interest. 

Requests received at least fourteen days prior to a Council Meeting will be considered 
by the Chairperson.  For further information, contact the Office of the General Manager 
on (03) 6393 5300 or email ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au.

mailto:ogm@mvc.tas.gov.au
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Public Question Time
Members of the public may ask questions in person or using our online form.

Thirty minutes is set aside for members of the public to ask questions provided with or 
without notice. Council will accept up to two questions “with notice” and two questions 
“without notice” per person, per meeting.

Click here to submit an online question.

Refer to pages 3 and 4 of this agenda for more information about attending a Council 
Meeting.

This Month’s Public Questions With Notice

 Question 1: Tanya King, Project Officer, Deloraine House (taken on notice October 2023) 

I thank the General Manager, Jonathan Harmey, for his response to my question regarding 
the Apex Club of Deloraine’s operation of the Deloraine Caravan Park indicating that the 
financial reports are publicly available. The Apex Australia Annual Report for 2022-23: 
Region 10 - Tasmania – notes from the Regional Communicator states “that the main 
concern is the future of the organisation in Tassie”. The report for the Deloraine Club states, 
- “no contact made”.

Could Council please advise where the financial information for the Deloraine Apex Club 
is publicly available?

Jonathan Harmey, General Manager advised that Tanya King was advised on 31 
October that financial information for the APEX Club of Deloraine (Association: IA08979) 
can be obtained online through the Tasmanian Government’s association register, link as 
follows: https://www.cbos.tas.gov.au/topics/clubs-fundraising/incorporated-
associations/search-register 

Question 2: Craig Zimitat, Editor Meander Valley Gazette (received via website) 

Councillors frequently comment at Planning Authority meetings about community 
concerns regarding the loss of heritage character by constituents in local communities. The 
loss of character includes examples such as building blocks of townhouses in an precinct of 
buildings with historical character. Most recently there were concerns raised about the 
effects of development on an Elm tree in Carrick which has great community significance 

https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/council-meeting-guidelines
https://www.cbos.tas.gov.au/topics/clubs-fundraising/incorporated-associations/search-register
https://www.cbos.tas.gov.au/topics/clubs-fundraising/incorporated-associations/search-register
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– which was recognised by comments made by Councillors. Planners noted that “the tree 
is not formally heritage listed or otherwise given protection in the planning scheme or other 
legislation”.
 
The Tasmanian Planning Scheme is made up of two components the State Planning 
Provisions; and the Local Provisions Schedule. Given the frequency of concerns raised by 
community members in submissions and by Councillors in Planning Authority meetings, 
when will council develop a Local Provisions Schedule to manage matters that are vitally 
important to the character of our communities and health and well-being of community 
members?

Krista Palfreyman, Director Development & Regulatory Services advised that 
Meander Valley Council has been operating under the Tasmanian Planning Scheme 
(comprising of both the State Planning Provisions (SPP) and the Local Provisions 
Schedule (LPS)) since April 2019. 

Council’ Strategic Planner will work closely with Councillors and the community to identify 
matters of significance that warrant protection through the LPS, and if required, prioritise 
these projects and progress feasible planning scheme amendments accordingly.

Question 3: Tanya King, Westbury (received via email)

I thank Director Krista Palfreyman for her response to my previous question regarding the 
date of the zoning change in Westbury.

The implementation of the Specific Area Plan in 2021 allowing for subdivision of lots that 
had a previous minimum lot size of 5 acres has resulted in significant intensification in 
development in Westbury, and a substantial increase in traffic movements. As Director De 
Paoli advised that Council last considered the sealing of gravel roads in Westbury in 2018, 
could Council please advise when the consideration for the sealing of roads in Westbury 
will occur again, and if the development, intensification of dwellings and significantly 
increased traffic movements shall be considered? 

Dino De Paoli, Director Infrastructure Services advised that Council receives and 
assesses requests for capital works projects annually. These can be submitted at any time 
by community members or councillors.

Question 4: Anette and Stephen Camino, Hagley (received via email)

Any updates on the progress of the installation of the Westbury RV Dump Point?

Dino De Paoli, Director Infrastructure Services advised that there are no updates at 
this time.
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This Month’s Public Questions Without Notice
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Councillor Question Time
This Month's Councillor Questions With Notice

Nil received prior to the publication of the agenda.

This Month's Councillor Questions Without Notice
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Council as a Planning Authority
In planning matters, Council acts as a Planning Authority under the Land Use Planning 
and Approvals Act 1993.  The following applies to all Planning Authority reports:

              Strategy Council has an Annual Plan target to process planning applications 
in accordance with delegated authority and statutory timeframes.

Policy Not applicable.

Legislation Council must process and determine applications under the Land 
Use Planning and Approvals Act 1993 (LUPAA) and its Planning 
Scheme. Each application is made in accordance with LUPAA, s57. 

Consultation The “Agency Consultation” section of each Planning Authority 
report outlines the external authorities consulted during the 
application process. 

Community consultation in planning matters is a legislated process. 
The “Public Response – Summary of Representations” section of 
each Planning Authority report outlines all complying submissions 
received from the community in response to the application.

Budget & Finance Where a Planning Authority decision is subject to later appeal to the 
Tasmanian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (Resource & Planning 
Stream), Council may be liable for costs associated with defending 
its decision.

Risk Management Risk is managed by all decision-makers carefully considering 
qualified advice and inclusion of appropriate conditions on 
planning permits as required.

Alternative 
Motions

Council may approve an application with amended conditions, or 
may refuse an application. 

Regardless of whether Council seeks to approve or refuse an 
application, a motion must be carried stating its decision and 
outlining reasons. A lost motion is not adequate for determination 
of a planning matter.

Motion Simple majority
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Planning Authority Reports

744 & 943 Birralee Road Westbury, 1210, 1410, 1470, 1471, 1510, 1517, 1554, 1572, 1663 & 1751 Birralee Road & 44 Delantys Road Birralee

Planning Authority Report
744 & 943 Birralee Road Westbury, 1210, 1410, 1470, 
1471, 1510, 1517, 1554, 1572, 1663 & 1751 Birralee Road & 
44 Delantys Road Birralee

Proposal Utilities (road upgrades)

Report Author George Walker 
Town Planner – Consultant 

Authorised by Krista Palfreyman
Director Development & Regulatory Services

Application reference PA\24\0067

Decision due 15 November 2023

Decision sought It is recommended that Council approves this application.
See section titled “Planner’s Recommendation” for further details.

Applicant’s Proposal

Applicant Department of State Growth C/O Pitt & Sherry

Properties 744, 943 Birralee Road WESTBURY, 1210, 1410, 1470, 1471, 1510, 
1517, 1554, 1572, 1663 & 1751 Birralee Road & 44 Delantys Road 
BIRRALEE (CT’s: 142529/1, 101557/1, 7684/1, 230999/1, 
103182/1, 109124/1, 122109/1, 32059/2, 32059/1, 29735/3, 
29735/1, 40649/2, 40649/3, 124701/1, 85318/5, 112822/1) 

Description The applicant seeks planning permission for road upgrades to 
Birralee Road which include multiple properties from 744 
Birralee Road, Westbury through to 1751 Birralee Road, 
Birralee.

Documents submitted by the Applicant are attached, titled “Application 
Documents”.
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Photo 1: Aerial image showing the location of the proposed road works within the Meander Valley Council 
section of Birralee Road.

Planner’s Report

Planning Scheme Tasmanian Planning Scheme - Meander Valley 
(“the Scheme”)

Zoning Agriculture 

Rural 

Rural Living 

Applicable Overlays C7.0 - Natural Assets Code - Waterway and Coastal Protection 
Area & Priority Vegetation Area.

C13.0 - Bushfire-Prone Areas Code 

C15.0 - Landslip Hazard Code – Low Hazard Band.

Existing Land Use Utilities (road)

Summary of Planner’s 
Assessment

Generally, an application for Utilities is classed as permitted in 
the Rural Zone and discretionary in the Agriculture and Rural 
Living Zones.
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Discretions For this application, four (4) discretions are triggered. This 
means Council has discretion to approve or refuse the 
application based on its assessment of:

21.3.1 - P1 & P2 Discretionary Uses

C7.6.1 - P1 Buildings and works within a waterway 
protection area 

C7.6.2 - P1 Clearance within a priority vegetation area 

Before exercising a discretion, Council must consider the 
relevant Performance Criteria, as set out in the Planning 
Scheme. 

See attachment titled “Planner’s Advice - Performance Criteria” for further 
discussion.

Performance Criteria & 
Applicable Standards

This proposal is assessed as satisfying the relevant 
Performance Criteria and compliant with all Applicable 
Standards of the Scheme.

See attachments titled “Planner’s Advice – Applicable Standards” and 
“Planner’s Advice – Performance Criteria” for further discussion.

Public Response Seven responses (“representations”) were received from the 
public, including two from one party. Of these, four 
representations are objections, and three provide information 
regarding use of the road for timber production activities and 
school buses.  

See attachment titled “Public Response – Summary of Representations” for 
further information, including the planner’s advice given in response.

Agency Consultation TasNetworks 

The application was referred to TasNetworks on 11 September 
2023. The response advised, the development is likely to 
adversely affect TasNetworks’ operations.  

TasNetworks are currently working with the Department of 
State Growth to relocate affected poles along this route. The 
work will be ongoing with revisions underway as easements 
are granted (or not) by the affected land owners. 
See attachment titled “Agency Consultation – TasNetworks”.
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Internal Referrals Infrastructure Services

Birralee Road is a Department of State Growth Road. No 
conditions are recommended however Council acknowledges 
receipt of comments from the community concerning safety 
in the vicinity of bus drop off and pick up areas. It is therefore 
recommended that a note be included in the permit to 
encourage the Department of State Growth to consider 
improvement of infrastructure in those areas. 

Planner’s Recommendation to Council

The planner’s recommendation, based on a professional assessment of the planning 
application and its compliance with the Planning Scheme, is set out below. 

Council must note the qualified advice received before making any decision, then ensure 
that reasons for its decision are based on the Planning Scheme. Reasons for the decision 
are also published in the minutes.

For further information, see Local Government Act 1993, s65, Local Government (Meeting Procedures) 
Regulations 2015, s25(2) and Land Use and Approvals Act 1993, s57.

Recommendation

This application by Department of State Growth C/O Pitt & Sherry for Utilities (road 
upgrades) on land located at:

• 744 Birralee Road, Westbury (CT142529/1);
• 943 Birralee Road, Westbury (CT101557/1);
• 1210 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT103182/1, CT109124/1 and CT230999/1);
• 1410 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT122109/1);
• 1470 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT32059/2);
• 1471 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT32059/1);
• 1517 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT29735/1);
• 1510 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT29735/3);
• 1554 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT40649/2);
• 1574 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT40649/3);
• 1663 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT124701/1);
• 1751 Birralee Road, Birralee (CT85318/5); 
• Birralee Road, Birralee (CT7684/1); and
• 44 Delantys Road, Birralee (CT112822/1),
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is recommended for approval generally in accordance with the Endorsed Plans, and 
recommended Permit Notes.

Endorsed Plan

a) Buffer Plans Key Plan, Prepared by Pitt & Sherry, Drawing No’s S-P.20.2000-00-CIV-
SKT-200, Revision A, dated 07.09.2023; 

b) Tasmanian Planning Scheme - Zones, Prepared by Pitt & Sherry, Drawing No’s S-
P.20.2000-00-CIV-SKT-251, Revision A, dated 07.09.2023;

c) Tasmanian Planning Scheme – Code Overlays, Prepared by Pitt & Sherry, Drawing 
No’s S-P.20.2000-00-CIV-SKT-252, Revision A, dated 07.09.2023;

d) Buffer Plans – Sheets 1, 2, 3 4, 5 and 7, Prepared by Pitt & Sherry, Drawing No’s S-
P.20.2000-00-CIV-SKT-253, 254, 255, 256, 258 and 259, Revision A, dated 07.09.2023;

e) Buffer Plan – Sheet 5 (updated), Prepared by Pitt & Sherry, Drawing No. S-P.20.2000-
00-CIV-SKT-257, Revision B, dated 23.10.2023; and

f) Natural Values Assessment, Prepared by North Barker Ecosystem Services, PAS124, 
Dated 24th August 2022.

Permit Conditions

No conditions recommended.

Permit Notes

1. Council recommends that the Departemnt of State Growth improves infrastructure at 
bus stop locations on Biralee Road to improve safety.

2. Any other proposed development or use (including amendments to this proposal) 
may require separate planning approval. For further information, contact Council.

3. This permit takes effect after:

a) The 14-day appeal period expires; or 
b) Any appeal to the Tasmanian Civil & Administrative Tribunal (TASCAT) is 

determined or abandoned; or 
c) Any other required approvals under this or any other Act are granted.

4. Planning appeals can be lodged with TASCAT Registrar within 14 days of Council 
serving notice of its decision on the applicant. For further information, visit the 
TASCAT website.

5. This permit is valid for two years only from the date of approval. It will lapse if the 
development is not substantially commenced. Council has discretion to grant an 
extension by request. 
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6. All permits issued by the permit authority are public documents. Members of the 
public may view this permit (including the endorsed documents) at the Council Office 
on request.

7. If any Aboriginal relics are uncovered during works:

a) All works to cease within delineated area, sufficient to protect unearthed or 
possible relics from destruction;

b) Presence of a relic must be reported to Aboriginal Heritage Tasmania; and
c) Relevant approval processes for state and federal government agencies will apply. 

Attachments

1. Public Response - Summary of Representations [12.1.1 - 6 pages]
2. Representation 1 - Manion's Coaches [12.1.2 - 2 pages]
3. Representation 2 - Forico Pty Limited [12.1.3 - 2 pages]
4. Representation 3 - S Danson [12.1.4 - 2 pages]
5. Representation 4 - A Gorman [12.1.5 - 3 pages]
6. Representation 5 - W Dobson [12.1.6 - 8 pages]
7. Representation 6 - D Swan [12.1.7 - 1 page]
8. Representation 7 - M Swan [12.1.8 - 3 pages]
9. Applicant's response to the representations [12.1.9 - 5 pages]

10. Planner's Advice - Applicable Standards [12.1.10 - 11 pages]
11. Planner's Advice - Performance Criteria [12.1.11 - 8 pages]
12. Application Documents [12.1.12 - 169 pages]
13. Agency Consultation - TasNetworks [12.1.13 - 1 page]



Public Response

Summary of Representations 

A summary of concerns raised by the public about this planning application is provided 
below. Seven responses (“representations”) were received during the advertised period, 
including two from one party.

This summary is an overview only, and should be read in conjunction with the full 
responses (see attached). In some instances, personal information may be redacted from 
individual responses. 

The applicant has provided a response to the matters raised in the representations (see 
attachment titled ”Applicant’s response to the representations”).

Council offers any person who has submitted a formal representation the opportunity to 
speak about it before a decision is made at the Council Meeting.

Name Manions’ Coaches – Representation 1
Concern a) Please see attached a map of our bus stops along Birralee Road. Our 

bus stops at seven different locations. We are wanting to ensure that 
the bus is still able to pull off on the side of the road safely to collect 
and drop off school children.

Planner’s 
Response 

a) The matter raised is not directly applicable to the consideration of 
the planning application against the planning scheme.
Notwithstanding this, State Growth have advised that their policy is 
not to provide established pull-off areas for rural bus stops but the 
widened lanes and sealed shoulders proposed in the upgrade works 
will allow for school buses to stop safely.

Name  Forico Pty Limited – Representation 2
Concern a) Forico Pty Limited has no objection to the proposed planning permit. 

Adjoining land to the south-east of Birralee Road is managed for pine 
and eucalypt plantations managed by Forico Pty Limited. It is intended 
to progressively thin and harvest these plantations on a 10-25 year 
rotation and replant the trees again. The forestry operations are 
industrial in nature and include a range of activities as listed in the 
representation.

12.1.1 Public Response - Summary Of Representations
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Planner’s 
Response 

a) Comments are noted. The matters raised are not relevant to 
assessment of the proposal against the planning scheme. 

Name S Danson – Representation 3
Concern a) Concerns that disturbing the sheer drop that already exists on this 

bend in the road will cause further slippages and collapses of the bank. 
There is riparian areas of native trees on my fence line at the present 
which holds the bank together also supporting wild and giving shade 
to live stock.

b) This would move the road closer to a shed and the house, the 
vibrations from the construction and the increased traffic and possible 
weight increase from heavy transport may damage foundations and 
the destruction of existing buildings.

c) The access from the road way to the gate will be decreased making it 
difficult and dangerous from vehicles towing trailers and heavy rigid 
trucks to enter from the road.

d) The development application is almost impossible to read and does 
not give and accurate plan of where the road is going to go and how 
much land is going to be taken, I have seen three different drawings 
from Pitt & Sherry and each one is different with different amounts of 
land being taken from the neighbours around me.

e) How are waterways going to be affected, is this going to cause 
flooding to properties, is it going to affect drainage?

Planner’s 
Response 

a) The applicant has advised that the design at this location has been 
altered to minimise the works on the representor’s property. While 
part of the works fall within a Low Landslip Hazard Band in this area, 
the work is exempt from assessment against the Landslip Hazard 
Code. Once the works are complete the batters will be revegetated 
and stabilised to reduce the risk of erosion.

b) Birralee Road is a Category 2 road. The proposal will not change the 
type or frequency of traffic using the road or the existing level of 
vibrations experienced by neighbouring properties.

c) The applicant advises that only minor road works are proposed to 
the vehicle crossing for this property and will not greatly change the 
use of this access.

12.1.1 Public Response - Summary Of Representations
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d) The project may have gone through changes during the design 
phase, however the final proposal is as per the advertised plans. The 
applicant has now provided an amended design for this location, 
which reduces the proposed works. This plan will form part of the 
endorsed documents if the proposal is approved.

e) The proposal includes some works within the waterway and coastal 
protection areas and is assessed against the applicable provisions. 
Any change to drainage to adjoining properties will generally be an 
improvement to existing conditions and will not cause flooding.

Name A Gorman – Representation 4
Concern a) The applicant has refused to install a stock underpass at the 

representor’s property, which is on both sides of Birralee Road. The 
forecast increase in traffic involves a doubling of freight traffic over the 
next ten years, making the moving of stock across the road 
increasingly hazardous., reducing the agricultural value of the 
property.

b) Other than a small number of local farm businesses the main 
beneficiary of this upgrade will be forestry and container freight to Bell 
Bay. If forestry is agricultural use, why do properties require a change 
of use permit prior to harvesting a tree plantation and returning the 
area to pasture and other agricultural production?

c) The applicant has written the application implying that Class 4 land 
has little to no value for agricultural production.

d) There are major discrepancies in what the applicant says is the road 
reserve and what landowners say is the road reserve. There are 
discrepancies between surveys.

Planner’s 
Response 

a) This is not a matter made relevant for assessment under the planning 
scheme. The applicant advises that existing access for agriculture 
including stock transfer across the road will be maintained. There are 
no existing stock underpasses and providing new ones does not 
form part of the scope of the proposal.

b) The proposed works that require a permit only involve small areas 
of land and will not significantly constrain agricultural uses on 
adjoining land. The category and role of the road will not be altered 
by the proposal.
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c) The applicant indicated that Class 4 land is not prime agricultural 
land under the land classification system for Tasmania and the 
proposal is not subject to clauses of the planning scheme that deal 
with prime agricultural land only. This is correct as only Classes 1-3 
constitute prime agricultural land. 
The proposal is assessed against the other applicable standards of 
the Agriculture Zone for Discretionary uses where it has been 
determined that the area of non-prime agricultural land to be 
converted to non-agricultural uses will be minimal within the context 
of the Agriculture zone contained within lots where proposed road 
upgrades are to be located.

d) Preliminary design work is undertaken using existing government 
data, which can present some inaccuracies when data is old and 
there haven’t been many recent surveys in the area. The applicant 
has advised that the final proposal plans are based on accurate 
survey data from recently completed surveys.

Name  W Dobson – Representation 5
Concern a) I had my surveyors check the boundary position to the road before I 

had plans done and all the old fencing was still in position. 
I have constructed new fencing around my property with State Growth 
approval and building/planning approval. They have created a new 
boundary around my property which is wrong (see attached email 
from Cohen & Associates).
I hope when the design is complete, I will be happy with my part of 
the road.

Planner’s 
Response 

a) Preliminary design work is undertaken using existing government 
data, which can present some inaccuracies when data is old and 
there haven’t been many recent surveys in the area. The applicant 
has advised that the final proposal plans are based on accurate 
survey data from recently completed surveys.
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Name  D Swan and M Swan – Representation 6 & 7
Concern a) Refusal to consider an appropriate stock underpass to connect 

agricultural land on two sides of Birralee Road.
b) The proposal will allow for removal of road access to title 103182/1. 

The access is the only direct road access to water infrastructure, used 
for supplementary house, stock and firefighting. The plans propose 
moving the access to another title which would require crossing 
paddocks which are often too wet for a truck to traverse.

c) We have been seeking to achieve a mutually agreeable outcome to 
the imposition of a Category 2 freight route on the identified residence. 
We have sought for the road to be moved 50m from the residence to 
improve safety for all. The plans as proposed do move the road 
slightly, but it is still not satisfactory. Understand that this cannot be 
considered under the current application, but want Council to be 
aware.

d) It is important to note that while the planning application is highly 
reliant on the notion that it only applies to ‘small slivers of land’, this 
would appear to be misleading, as it is facilitating a far more 
significant project. The road upgrade will actually constitute a ‘change 
in use’ for the road and residents.

e) Concerned about road safety at gateway of identified property used 
for house and farm infrastructure access.

f) Concerns as to the increased noise levels from the road, according to 
the Department’s projected future usage, much of which occurs at 
night. Provision should be made to create a sound barrier on the road 
boundary.

Planner’s 
Response 

a) This is not a matter made relevant for assessment under the planning 
scheme. The applicant advises that existing access for agriculture 
including stock transfer across the road will be maintained. There are 
no existing stock underpasses and providing new ones does not 
form part of the scope of the proposal.

b) The applicant advises that the proposed works are on the opposite 
side of the road and that the existing access to CT:103182/1 will not 
be removed. 

c) This is not a matter made relevant for assessment under the planning 
scheme.

12.1.1 Public Response - Summary Of Representations

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 28



d) The road upgrades project includes a significant amount of work that 
falls under exemptions provided in the planning scheme for 
expected maintenance and upgrades of Utilities including roads. In 
this case some small areas of the proposed works fall outside the 
area covered by the exemptions and as such a development 
application is required for approval of those parts. The proposal 
does not constitute a ‘change of use’ under the planning scheme. A 
road falls into the Utilities use class and this will not change. Birralee 
Road is already a Category 2 freight route.

e) The proposed road upgrades fully consider road safety including 
sight distances. The safety at vehicle crossings will be improved.

f) There is no requirement in the planning scheme to provide noise 
attenuation for this proposal. 

Note: The planning application was advertised in a local newspaper and on Council’s 
website for a statutory period of 14 days from 30 September 2023 to 17 October 2023. 
The properties were also signposted. 
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12.1.2 Representation 1 - Manion's Coaches
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12.1.3 Representation 2 - Forico Pty Limited
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12.1.4 Representation 3 - S Danson
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12.1.5 Representation 4 - A Gorman
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12.1.6 Representation 5 - W Dobson
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12.1.7 Representation 6 - D Swan
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12.1.8 Representation 7 - M Swan
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12.1.8 Representation 7 - M Swan
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Planner’s Advice: Applicable Standards

Background

The proposal is for Stage 2 of a program of road upgrades to Birralee Road in Birralee 
and Westbury, being undertaken by the Department of State Growth.  The proposed 
road upgrades that require a planning permit will predominately occur between 744 
Birralee Road to the south and 1751 Birralee Road to the north for a distance of 
approximately 10.5km (refer to Figure 1).

Figure 1 – Aerial image showing the extent of proposed road upgrades within the Meander Valley Council 
section of Birralee Road.

Most of the required roadworks are exempt from requiring a planning permit, where they 
fall in or within 3m of the existing road reserve or at a vehicle crossing or junction. The 
applicable exemptions are:

• Clause 4.2.4 – 
Road Works: Maintenance and repair of roads and upgrading by or on behalf of the 
road authority which may extend up to 3m outside the road reserve including:

(a) widening or narrowing of existing carriageways;  
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(b) making, placing or upgrading kerbs, gutters, footpaths, shoulders, roadsides, 
traffic control devices, line markings, street lighting, safety barriers, signs, 
fencing and landscaping, unless a code relating to historic heritage values or 
significant trees applies and requires a permit for the use or development; or   

(c) repair of bridges, or replacement of bridges of similar size in the same or 
adjacent location.

• Clause 4.2.5 –
Vehicle Crossings, Junctions and Level Crossings If:  

(a) development of a vehicle crossing, junction or level crossing:  
i. by the road or rail authority; or  
ii. in accordance with the written consent of the relevant road or rail 

authority; or   
iii. use of a vehicle crossing, junction or level crossing by a road or 

railway authority.
• Clause 4.6.3 –

(c) fences within 4.5m of frontage: Fences (including free-standing walls) within 
4.5m of a frontage, if located in in the Utilities Zone and not adjoining a 
property in the General Residential Zone, Inner Residential Zone, Low 
Density Residential Zone or Village Zone and if not more than a height of:   

i. 1.8m above existing ground level if adjoining public land; or  
ii. 2.1m above existing ground level if not adjoining public land, unless 

the Local Historic Heritage Code applies and requires a permit for the 
use or development.

The areas of works that are subject to the planning application are several small segments 
where works will be required further than 3m from the road reserve, including for the 
construction of roadside shoulders and drains and the removal of some areas of 
vegetation. 
 
The segments of the road works that require a permit are located at various points along 
the road upgrade section and fall into the Rural Living Zone, Rural Zone and Agriculture 
Zone.

12.1.10 Planner's Advice - Applicable Standards

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 57



Figure 2: Zoning of subject titles and adjoining land (image sourced from application documents).

Figure 3: Aerial photo of subject titles and adjoining land (image sourced from application documents).
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Summary of Planner’s Advice

This application was assessed against General Provisions Standards, as well as the 
Applicable Standards for the Zones and any relevant Codes. 

All Standards applied in this assessment are taken from the Planning Scheme.

This application is assessed as compliant with the relevant Acceptable Solutions, except 
where “Relies on Performance Criteria” is indicated (see tables below). 

Council has discretion to approve or refuse the application based on its assessment of 
the Performance Criteria, where they apply. Before exercising discretion, Council must 
consider the relevant Performance Criteria, as set out in the Planning Scheme.

For a more detailed discussion of any aspects of this application reliant on Performance Criteria, see the 
attachment titled “Planner’s Advice - Performance Criteria”.
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Rural Living Zone
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

11.3.1 Discretionary uses

A1 The proposed areas of roadworks that will require 
a permit will not accommodate vehicle 
movements or generate any emissions that may 
cause a loss of amenity to adjacent sensitive uses 
associated with the physical use of the road.  That 
is, the proposed works that require planning 
approval involve construction of road shoulders, 
stormwater drainage and some vegetation 
removal. Accordingly, hours of operation 
associated with the road works will be negligible 
in this regard.

Complies

A2 The proposed road upgrades do not include 
external lighting.

Not Applicable

A3 The proposed areas of roadworks that will require 
a permit will not generate ongoing commercial 
vehicle movements.

Not Applicable

11.3.2 Visitor accommodation

A1-A2 The proposal does not involve visitor 
accommodation use.

Not Applicable

11.4.1 Site Coverage

A1 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable

11.4.2 Building height, setback and siting

A1-A4 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable
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Rural Living Zone
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

11.5.1 Lot Design

A1-A3 Subdivision is not proposed. Not Applicable

11.5.2 Roads

A1 Subdivision is not proposed. Not Applicable

11.5.3 Services

A1-A2 Subdivision is not proposed. Not Applicable
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 Rural Zone
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

20.3.1 Discretionary Uses

A1-A4 Utilities is a Permitted use in the Rural Zone 
pursuant to Table 20.2.

Not Applicable

20.4.1 Building Height

A1 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable

20.4.2 Setbacks

A1-A2 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable

20.4.3 Access for new dwellings

A1 No dwellings are proposed. Not Applicable

20.5.1 Lot Design

A1-A2 The proposal does not include subdivision. Not Applicable
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Agriculture Zone
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

21.3.1 Discretionary Uses

A1 There is no Acceptable Solution. Relies on 
Performance Criteria

A2 There is no Acceptable Solution. Relies on 
Performance Criteria

A3 No works are proposed on prime land (Class 1-3). 
All works are on Class 4 land.

Not Applicable

A4 The proposal does not involve Residential use. Not Applicable

21.4.1 Building Height

A1 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable

21.4.2 Setbacks

A1-A2 No buildings are proposed. Not Applicable

21.4.3 Access for new dwellings

A1-A2 No dwellings are proposed. Not Applicable

21.5.1 Lot Design

A1-A2 The proposal does not include subdivision. Not Applicable
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C2.0 Parking and Sustainable Transport Code
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

C2.2 Application of this Code

The code applies to all use and development.

However, the proposal does not impact any of 
the assessment standards, so further assessment 
is not required.

Code not applicable
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7.0 Natural Assets Code
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

C7.6.1 Traffic generation at a vehicle crossing, level crossing or new junction

A1 Works including the construction of roadside 
shoulders and drains and the removal of small 
areas of vegetation are proposed within 
Waterway and Coastal Protection Areas.

The proposal does not meet the Acceptable 
Solution.

Relies on 
Performance Criteria

A2 The proposed works are not within a Coastal 
Refugia Area.

Not Applicable

A3 The proposal does not include any new 
stormwater drainage points.

Complies

A4 The proposal does not include dredging or 
reclamation works.

Not Applicable

A5 The proposal does not include coastal protection 
works or watercourse erosion or inundation 
protection works.

Not Applicable

C7.6.2 Clearance within a priority vegetation area

A1 Works including the construction of roadside 
shoulders and drains and the removal of small 
areas of vegetation is proposed within Priority 
Vegetation Areas.

The Acceptable Solution is not satisfied.

Relies on 
Performance Criteria

C7.7.1 Subdivision within a waterway and costal 
protection area or a future coastal refugia area
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7.0 Natural Assets Code
Scheme

Standard Planner’s Assessment Assessed Outcome

A1 Subdivision is not proposed. Not Applicable

C7.7.2 Subdivision with a priority vegetation area

A1 Subdivision is not proposed. Not Applicable
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21.0 Agriculture Zone  

21.3.1 Discretionary Uses
Objective
That uses listed as Discretionary:

(a) support agricultural use; and
(b) Protect land for agricultural use by minimising the conversion of land to non-

agricultural use.
Performance Criteria P1
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A use listed as Discretionary, excluding Residential or Resource Development, must be 
required to locate on the site, for operational or security reasons or the need to contain 
or minimise impacts arising from the operation such as noise, dust, hours of operation 
or traffic movements, having regard to:

(a) access to a specific naturally occurring resource on the site or on land in the 
vicinity of the site;

(b) access to infrastructure only available on the site or on land in the vicinity of 
the site;

(c) access to a product or material related to an agricultural use;
(d) service or support for an agricultural use on the site or on land in the vicinity of 

the site;
(e) the diversification or value adding of an agricultural use on the site or in the 

vicinity of the site; and
(f) provision of essential Emergency Services or Utilities.

Summary of Planner’s Advice

The development is assessed as satisfying Performance Criteria P1, and is consistent 
with the objective. 

Details of the planner’s assessment against the provision are set out below.

Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

21.3.1 
Performance 
Criteria P1

The proposal is for upgrades to an existing State Road that is part of the 
freight and general traffic network. 

The segments of the road upgrades that are subject to the planning 
application and fall within the Agriculture Zone include small portions of 
land required for roadside shoulders and drains that are more than 3m 
outside the existing road reserve. The total area of land involved in the 
Agriculture Zone will be less than 0.5ha.
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Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

The proposal relates to the provision of an essential service in the Utilities 
use class, as explicitly addressed in part (f) of the standard.

Maintaining and improving the road network is essential for supporting 
agricultural uses in the area by enabling access for freight and traffic to 
service those uses. 

Overall, the proposal complies with the Performance Criteria P1.

21.3.1 Discretionary Uses
Objective
That uses listed as Discretionary:

(a) support agricultural use; and
(b) Protect land for agricultural use by minimising the conversion of land to non-

agricultural use.
Performance Criteria P2
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A use listed as Discretionary, excluding Residential, must minimise the conversion of 
agricultural land to non-agricultural use, having regard to:

(a) the area of land being converted to non-agricultural use;
(b) whether the use precludes the land from being returned to an agricultural use; 
(c) whether the use confines or restrains existing or potential agricultural use on 

the site or adjoining sites.

Summary of Planner’s Advice

The development is assessed as satisfying Performance Criteria P2, and is consistent 
with the objective. 

Details of the planner’s assessment against the provision are set out overleaf.

12.1.11 Planner's Advice - Performance Criteria

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 68



Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

21.3.1 
Performance 
Criteria P2

The segments of the road upgrades that are subject to the planning 
application and fall within the Agriculture Zone are small, narrow portions 
of land located across several properties. 

The total area of land to be converted to non-agricultural use is minimal. In 
this regard, the area of works proposed within the Agriculture Zone is 
approximately 0.334ha. The total area of Agriculture Zone land 
encompassed within the applicable lots that the proposed road upgrades 
will be in, is 785.79ha. Accordingly, approximately 0.0425% of the total area 
of Agriculture zoned land based on cadastral area of each lot will be 
converted to a non-agricultural (Utilities) use. 

The road upgrades will preclude these areas from returning to agricultural 
use in the future as they will become part of the road corridor. 

The proposal will not further impact the use of the remaining land within 
each of the impacted lots and adjoining agricultural land for agricultural 
purposes.

Overall, the proposal complies with the Performance Criteria P2.
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C7.0 Natural Assets Code

C7.6.1 Development Standards for Buildings and Works
Objective
That buildings and works within a waterway and coastal protection area or future 
coastal refugia area will not have an unnecessary or unacceptable impact on natural 
assets.
Performance Criteria P1
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Buildings and works within a waterway and coastal protection area must avoid or 
minimise adverse impacts on natural assets, having regard to:

(a) impacts caused by erosion, siltation, sedimentation and runoff;
(b) impacts on riparian or littoral vegetation;
(c) maintaining natural streambank and streambed condition, where it exists;
(d) impacts on in-stream natural habitat, such as fallen logs, bank overhangs, rocks 

and trailing vegetation;
(e) the need to avoid significantly impeding natural flow and drainage;
(f) the need to maintain fish passage, where known to exist;
(g) the need to avoid land filling of wetlands;
(h) the need to group new facilities with existing facilities, where reasonably 

practical;
(i) minimising cut and fill;
(j) building design that responds to the particular size, shape, contours or slope of 

the land;
(k) minimising impacts on coastal processes, including sand movement and wave 

action;
(l) minimising the need for future works for the protection of natural assets, 

infrastructure and property;
(m) the environmental best practice guidelines in the Wetlands and Waterways 

Works Manual; and
(n) the guidelines in the Tasmanian Coastal Works Manual.

Summary of Planner’s Advice

The development is assessed as satisfying Performance Criteria P1, and is consistent 
with the objective. 

Details of the planner’s assessment against the provision are set out overleaf.
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Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

C7.6.1 
Performance 
Criteria P1 

There are five small areas of road works requiring a permit that fall within 
the waterway and coastal protection area overlays, where Birralee Road 
crosses Black Sugarloaf Creek and Reids Creek.

The application included a comprehensive Natural Values Assessment (NVA) 
prepared by North Barker Ecosystem Services. The NVA determined that the 
proposed road upgrades will have a minimal impact upon the values 
contained within the waterway protection area. Specifically:

• The applicant advises that the roadworks will be undertaken in 
accordance with a project specific Vegetation Management Plan, 
Weed Management Plan and Construction Management Plan. 

• The applicant also advises that the works will be carried out in 
accordance with the environmental best practice guidelines in the 
Wetlands and Waterways Works Manual and Tasmanian Coastal 
Works Manual (as relevant).

The Planning Permit Application and the NVA will form endorsed plans and 
information as part of any planning permit ensuring that the commitments 
expressed within the documents and information will be undertaken as part 
of the proposed or approved development.

Overall, the proposed works will be appropriately managed to avoid causing 
significant impacts to the values of the affected waterways and in 
accordance with the Performance Criteria.
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C7.6.2 Clearance within a Priority Vegetation Area
Objective
That clearance of native vegetation within a priority vegetation area: 

(a) does not result in unreasonable loss of priority vegetation;
(b) is appropriately managed to adequately protect identified priority vegetation; 

and
(c) minimises and appropriately manages impacts from construction and 

development activities.
Performance Criteria P1.1
Clearance of native vegetation within a priority vegetation area must be for: 

(a) an existing use on the site, provided any clearance is contained within the 
minimum area necessary to be cleared to provide adequate bushfire protection, 
as recommended by the Tasmania Fire Service or an accredited person; 

(b) buildings and works associated with the construction of a single dwelling or an 
associated outbuilding;

(c) subdivision in the General Residential Zone or Low Density Residential Zone;
(d) use or development that will result in significant long term social and economic 

benefits and there is no feasible alternative location or design;
(e) clearance of native vegetation where it is demonstrated that on-going pre-

existing management cannot ensure the survival of the priority vegetation and 
there is little potential for long-term persistence; or

(f) the clearance of native vegetation that is of limited scale relative to the extent 
of priority vegetation on the site.

Performance Criteria P1.2
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Clearance of native vegetation within a priority vegetation area must minimise adverse 
impacts on priority vegetation, having regard to:

(a) the design and location of buildings and works and any constraints such as 
topography or land hazards;

(b) any particular requirements for the buildings and works;
(c) minimising impacts resulting from bushfire hazard management measures 

through siting and fire-resistant design of habitable buildings;
(d) any mitigation measures implemented to minimise the residual impacts on 

priority vegetation;
(e) any on-site biodiversity offsets; and
(f) any existing cleared areas on the site.

Summary of Planner’s Advice

The development is assessed as satisfying Performance Criteria P1.1 & P1.2 and is 
consistent with the objective. 

Details of the planner’s assessment against the provision are set out overleaf.
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Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

C7.6.2 
Performance 
Criteria P1.1 

The proposal is for upgrades and extension of the existing road and will 
require removal of some small areas of native vegetation that are identified as 
Priority Vegetation Areas under the planning scheme.

The NVA has been provided with the application, detailing the vegetation 
communities present and their distribution.

The proposed vegetation clearance is directly associated with and required for 
the upgrades of the road, which is an existing use. 

There are no buildings or subdivision associated with the proposal or 
requirements for bushfire protection.

The upgrading of the road network will deliver long term social and economic 
benefits to the area and there is no feasible alternative location given the 
proposal is for upgrades to the existing infrastructure. 

The areas of vegetation that require clearance are limited in extent and 
represent a small proportion of the vegetation communities that exist in the 
area on the surrounding land satisfying P1.1(f).

The roadworks will be undertaken in accordance with a project specific 
Vegetation Management Plan, Weed Management Plan and Construction 
Management Plan. 

Overall, the proposed works will be appropriately managed and will not cause 
an unreasonable loss of priority vegetation.

C7.6.2 
Performance 
Criteria P1.2

Most of the proposed roadworks will be undertaken on existing cleared and 
disturbed areas. Small areas of priority vegetation are required to be cleared 
to allow for the upgrades and extension of the road and associated works.

There are no buildings associated with the proposal or requirements for 
bushfire protection.

No specific mitigation measures or biodiversity offsets are proposed.
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Scheme 
Provision Planner’s Assessment

Overall, the proposal will minimise the adverse impacts on priority vegetation 
due to the relatively minor extent of the proposed works and their design and 
location. 
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Development & Regulatory Services
Council Submission to Public Consultation of Draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework

Development & Regulatory Services
Council Submission to Public Consultation of Draft 
Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework

Report Author Thomas Wagenknecht
Strategic Planner

Authorised by Krista Palfreyman
Director Development & Regulatory Services

Decision Sought That Council endorse the attached submission on the Draft 
Development Assessment Panel Framework, and its submission to 
the State Planning Office.

Vote Simple majority

Recommendation to Council

That Council:

1. Endorse the attachment ‘Meander Valley Council Submission – Draft Development 
Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework’ as its submission to the public exhibition of 
the Draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework; and

2. Approve the lodgment of Council’s submission provided as Attachment 1 to the 
State Planning Office.

 Report

The Premier has announced the development of new legislation to allow certain 
development applications to be determined by an independent Development 
Assessment Panel (DAP) appointed by the Tasmanian Planning Commission. The stated 
intent of introducing a legislated DAP framework is to provide an alternate approval 
pathway outside of Council’s decision-making functions and to ‘take the politics out of 
planning’ for more complex or contentious development applications.
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A Position Paper on the proposed DAP framework has been released by the State 
Planning Office (SPO) for public consultation for a six-week period, commencing on 19th 
October 2023 and closing on 20th November 2023. A copy of this Position Paper, 
including the draft DAP framework, is attached.

At its core, the Position Paper seeks feedback on:

• Establishing a process where certain planning applications (such as more complex 
or contentious planning applications) may, or must, be assessed by an 
independent Development Assessment Panel instead of by the local Planning 
Authority;

• Establishing a process where the Minister can direct a council to initiate a draft 
amendment to their respective Local Provisions Schedule under certain 
circumstances; and

• Potential improvements to appeal/review processes for further information 
requests.

Six key consultation issues have been raised within the Position Paper:

1. Types of development applications suitable for referral to a DAP for 
determination;

2. Provision of an enhanced role for the Minister to direct a council to initiate a 
planning scheme amendment under certain circumstances;

3. Incorporating local knowledge in DAP decision making and ensuring that the DAP 
framework to complement existing processes and avoids duplication of 
administrative processes;

4. Resolving issues associated with requests for, and responses to, further 
information;

5. Appeal rights and assessment timeframes for DAP determined applications; and
6. The role of the planning authority post DAP determination of a development 

application.

The preparation of a DAP framework is intended to inform the drafting of an amendment 
to the Land Use Planning and Approvals Act 1993, referred to as the ‘Land Use Planning 
and Approvals (Development Assessment Panel) Amendment Bill 2024’ by the SPO (see 
Figure 1 below).
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Figure 1: Land Use Planning and Approvals (Development 
Assessment Panel) Amendment Bill 2024 – Development Timeline 

(SPO 2023)

The attached submission outlines Council’s position on the merits of the implementation 
of a DAP framework. In summary, the Council submits that there is fundamentally no 
demonstrated need for a DAP framework of the type and scale contemplated by the 
Position Paper and that:

• The proposed solution to the cited issues, such as the conflicting role of 
Councillors, is a gross overreaction that would unduly curtail local decision-
making and the agency of Council when acting as the Planning Authority. This is 
made abundantly clear when Position Paper itself acknowledges that the evidence 
of ‘inappropriate political determination of applications is limited to isolated, but 
well publicised, cases’. Such significant reform is not warranted by so few cases;

• Decisions made by the DAP will not be representative of local ratepayers, will not 
reflect the aspirations of the community and will not have a fine grain 
understanding of the values (whether they be natural, landscape, heritage, 
cultural, scenic, coastal or waterway) that the local community cherish and hold in 
high esteem;
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• The absence of third-party appeal rights against the decision of the DAP will 
remove a critical opportunity for community involvement considering the 
application would not be decided by local representatives (i.e., the Council as 
Planning Authority). This would undermine any faith that matters raised by both 
applicants and representors will be meaningfully heard, understood, and 
addressed;

• Decisions made by the DAP would be made by technical specialists appointed by 
the Tasmanian Planning Commission who will not be responsible to the local 
community for the decisions they make. The members of the DAP will not be held 
accountable for their decisions, and it will be left up to Council to bear the burden 
of regulating the activity;

• The 'conflicting role of Councillors’, perceived or actual, is a type of conflict they 
already actively manage day-in day-out irrespective of their role as Planning 
Authority. Councillors are equipped with the knowledge and experience, in 
addition to technical support from officers, to make tough decisions that balance 
a range of statutory and non-statutory matters in the pursuit of bettering their 
community within the legislation framework they must abide by; and

• The Major Projects Assessment process could easily be refined to include 
assessments of projects such as critical infrastructure and large housing projects 
undertaken by Homes Tasmania and registered Community Housing providers 
rather than introducing an entirely new planning assessment pathway.

Removal of the ability for councils to choose whether to initiate an amendment to their 
own Local Provisions Schedule, and instead be forced by the Minister to initiate 
amendments that the community potentially does not support, would likewise remove 
the agency of local communities to decide their own strategic future. Such a mechanism 
would undermine any social license strategic planning has as a worthwhile local endeavor 
and is likewise unreservedly opposed.

The Position Paper and draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework was 
discussed with Councillors at the October Workshop. 

The Council’s representation is detailed in the attachment Meander Valley Council 
Submission – Draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework.

Attachments 1. MVC Submission on Draft Development Assessment Panel 
Framework [13.1.1 - 3 pages]

2. Position Paper - Development Assessment Panel Framework 
(incl. draft DAP framework) [13.1.2 - 28 pages]

Strategy Supports the objectives of Council’s strategic future direction 
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1: a sustainable natural and built environment
3: vibrant and engaged communities
5: innovative leadership and community governance.

See Meander Valley Community Strategic Plan 2014-24. Click here 
or visit www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-and-strategies to view.

Policy Not applicable

Legislation Land Use Planning and Approvals Act 1993

Local Government Act 1993; s28 2(c)

Consultation Not applicable - consultation being undertaken by the State 
Planning Office

Budget & Finance Not applicable

Risk Management In making a submission within the timeframes, Council ensures its 
views are considered.

Alternative
Motions

Council may amend the submission.

https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports
https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports


60310/0
XXX November 2023

State Planning Office
Department of Premier and Cabinet
GPO Box 123
HOBART TAS 7001

Dear Sir/Madam  

Meander Valley Council Submission on Draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) 
Framework

I write to provide the Meander Valley Council (Council) submission in response to the 
Position Paper on a proposed Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework currently 
open for consultation.

In short, Council opposes the proposed legislative reform in its entirety, with particular 
reference to (i) the establishment of any form of Development Assessment Panel that would 
remove Council’s current responsibility to act as Planning Authority and (ii) conferring 
powers to the Minister to compel a council to initiate amendments to its respective Local 
Provisions Schedule. It is the opinion of Council that there is fundamentally no demonstrated 
need for the legislative reforms the Position Paper contemplates and that: 

• The proposed solutions to the cited issues, such as the conflicting role of 
Councillors, is a gross overreaction that would unduly curtail local decision-
making and agency of Council when performing its statutory Planning Authority 
functions.

The Stage 2 – Interim Report of the Future of Local Government Review clearly 
states that ‘while the Board believes there is a tension between councillors’ role as 
community advocates and their role as a member of a planning authority, it has 
heard mixed and conflicting evidence about whether this is a significant problem, 
or if the tension is being appropriately managed in most cases’ and that it would 
seek further feedback in Stage 3 before it lands on a proposed way forward. The 
issue of Councils’ role in assessing development applications was subsequently 
removed from the scope of the review, with the result being the announcement 
of a proposed DAP Framework several months later. Even the Position Paper 
acknowledges that the evidence of ‘inappropriate political determination of 
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applications is limited to isolated, but well publicised, cases’. The justification for 
the establishment of a DAP framework is clearly lacking and is one of the clearest 
examples of how politics truly affects planning processes and good governance.

• Decisions made by the DAP will not be representative of local ratepayers, will not 
reflect the aspirations of the community and will not have a fine grain 
understanding of the values (whether they be natural, landscape, heritage, 
cultural, scenic, coastal or waterway) that the local community cherish and hold 
in high esteem. There is a legitimate role for local leaders to determine planning 
applications in a public forum, particularly for contentious planning applications 
to ensure that the decision is fair, transparent, and representative. This role should 
not be removed, even in part, due to a few isolated cases.

• While it is true that the Combined Permit and Amendment and Major Projects 
processes do not provide third-party rights of appeal this does not mean that 
locally important applications ought to have that right removed. The absence of 
third-party appeal rights against the decision of the DAP will remove a critical 
opportunity for community involvement when local representation (in the form 
of the Council as Planning Authority) is also proposed to be removed. This would 
instead undermine any faith that matters raised by both applicants and 
representors will be meaningfully heard, understood, and addressed. 

• Decisions made by the DAP would be made by technical specialists, likely 
appointed by the Tasmanian Planning Commission, who will not be responsible 
to the local community for the decisions they make. The members of the DAP will 
subsequently not be held accountable to their decisions, and it will be left up to 
Council to bear the burden of regulating the activity and any resulting community 
fallout.

• The ‘conflicting role of Councillors’, perceived or actual, is a type of conflict they 
already actively manage irrespective of their role as Planning Authority. 
Councillors are equipped with their own knowledge and experience, and with 
technical support from officers to make tough decisions that balance a range of 
statutory and non-statutory matters in the pursuit of bettering their community 
within the established legislative framework. Councillors are chosen by their local 
community to make the tough decisions on behalf of said community, including 
contentious and complex planning decisions, and are able to bring a degree of 
humanity and empathy to proceedings that are not always achieved by the 
legalistic and technical tendencies of specialists.
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• The existing Major Projects Assessment process could easily be refined to include 
assessments of projects such as critical infrastructure and large housing projects 
undertaken by Homes Tasmania and registered Community Housing providers, 
rather than introducing an entirely new planning assessment pathway, if this is 
the true impetus for this proposed reform. 

• Removal of the ability for Councils to choose whether to initiate an amendment 
to their own Local Provisions Schedule, and instead be forced to initiate 
amendments that the community potentially does not support, would likewise 
remove the agency of local communities to decide their own strategic future. 
Such a mechanism would undermine any social license strategic planning has as 
a worthwhile local endeavor and is likewise unreservedly opposed. 

• Tasmania is already experiencing a chronic shortage of experienced planners at 
all levels of government and the private sector. Where will the experienced 
professionals who will sit on the DAP come from? If from local government, then 
the issue of DAPs would place greater strain upon existing resourcing limitations. 
If from state government, particularly the Tasmanian Planning Commission, then 
there is a risk that the quality of the statewide strategic decision-making will not 
be as sound as may be envisaged if also not sufficiently resourced. If from the 
private sector then how will conflicts of interest by appropriately managed?

• The art of crafting legislation is to make it detailed enough to be operable while 
simple enough to be followed. The approvals processes in Tasmania are already 
characterised by multiple pathways of assessment and referrals that lead the 
average citizen completely bamboozled by how to get approval for sometimes 
something as simple as a shed in their backyard. Keep it simple. The introduction 
of yet another assessment pathway will not streamline or simplify proceedings. 

Thank you for providing Council with the opportunity to submit its position on this matter.

Regards

Wayne Johnston
Mayor

13.1.1 MVC Submission On Draft Development Assessment Panel Framework

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 252



S ta te  P l ann ing  Of f i ce  
Depar tment  o f  Premier  and  Cab ine t    

Development 
Assessment Panel 
(DAP) Framework 

Position Paper 
  

13.1.2 Position Paper - Development Assessment Panel Framework (Incl. Draft DAP Framework)

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 253



 

 

Page 2 of 28 

DAP Framework 
Position Paper  

 

Author: 
State Planning Officer  

Publisher: 
Department of Premier and Cabinet 

Date: 
October 2023 

© Crown in Right of the State of Tasmania December 2019 

  

13.1.2 Position Paper - Development Assessment Panel Framework (Incl. Draft DAP Framework)

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 254



 

 

Page 3 of 28 

DAP Framework 
Position Paper  

 

Contents 
1. Introduction 4 

2. Background 4 

2.1 Role of planning authorities 4 

2.2 Planning system 5 

3. Identification of Issues 8 

3.1  Conflicting role of Councillors 8 

3.2  Retaining local input 10 

3.3  Request for further information 11 

3.4  Timeframes for assessment and appeal rights 12 

3.5 Post determination roles of Council 14 

4. Draft DAP framework 15 

5. Next Steps 15 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 - Draft DAP Framework 

13.1.2 Position Paper - Development Assessment Panel Framework (Incl. Draft DAP Framework)

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 255



 

 

Page 4 of 28 

DAP Framework 
Position Paper  

1. Introduction 
The Tasmanian Government has announced the preparation of new legislation to introduce 
independent Development Assessment Panels (DAPs) to take over some of councils’ 
decision-making functions on certain development applications.  

The stated intent for introducing DAPs is ‘to take the politics out of planning’ by providing 
an alternate approval pathway for more complex or contentious development applications.  

Any DAP determined applications will still be assessed against the current planning rules and 
use and development standards in existing planning schemes. It is intended that, where 
possible, the DAP framework will utilise existing processes and incorporate local knowledge 
into the decision-making process.  

The project also consider whether there should be an enhanced role for the Minister to 
direct a council to initiate a planning scheme amendment under certain circumstances.  

The purpose of this Position Paper is to explore these matters by providing some 
background context on the role of council, identifying the current issues associated with 
determining development applications, seeking input on what applications might be suitable 
to be determined by a DAP, options for what a DAP framework might look like and how it 
might be integrated into the planning system.  

Throughout the Position Paper ‘Consultation issues’ are identified and followed by text 
boxes containing specific questions that are intended initiate conversations for the purpose 
of consultation. In addition, to help explain what a DAP framework might look like, an 
outline of a draft framework is provided in Attachment 1 for comment. 

2. Background 

2.1 Role of planning authorities 
In Tasmania, councils are ‘planning authorities’ with defined responsibilities to determine 
development applications in accordance with the Land Use Planning and Approvals Act 1993 
(LUPAA). Section 48 of the LUPAA requires that: 

‘where a planning scheme is in force, the planning authority must, within the ambit of its 
power, observe, and enforce the observance of, that planning scheme in respect of all use 
and development undertaken within the areas to which the planning scheme relates.’ 

A council is required to act as a planning authority when it is determining development 
applications, irrespective of the personal or political views of individual Councillors and the 
constituents they represent. This presents a degree of conflict for those elected to 
represent their constituents under the Local Government Act 1993 and perform the planning 
authority function. This conflicted role of Councillors has been identified in the Future of 
Local Government Review Stage 2 Interim Report (the Interim Report) (released in May 
2023).  

The Interim Report identified that there was strong division between those who believe 
Councillors have a legitimate role in making planning decisions on development applications, 
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and those who believe the role should relate primarily to strategic land use planning where 
they can legitimately represent community views in planning processes leaving decisions on 
applications to local professional planners, or in the case of complex applications, by 
independent planning panels. Indeed, some councils specifically requested that planning 
decisions be totally removed from elected councils.  

Following the publication of the Interim Report, the Minister for Local Government 
amended the terms of reference for the Future of Local Government Review by removing 
councils’ development assessment role, and referred this to the Minister for Planning for 
further consideration. 

The Interim Report identified eight reform outcomes with some applicable reform options 
to consider. Of relevance to the Planning portfolio, Reform outcome 5 – “Regulatory 
frameworks, systems and processes are streamlined, simplified, and standardised” identifies 
the following options: 

• Deconflict the role of councillors and planning authorities 

− Refer complex planning development applications to independent assessment 
panels appointed by the Tasmanian Government 

− Remove councillors’ responsibility for determining development applications 

− Develop guidelines for the consistent delegation of development applications to 
council staff. 

Typically, planning authorities don’t consider many amendments to planning schemes, 
however they still have the potential to raise similar issues of conflict between planning 
considerations and the preferences of some constituents, to those experienced when 
determining development applications. Although the initiation process only signifies the 
commencement of the assessment of the planning scheme amendment, refusing to initiate is 
effectively a refusal of the application to amend the planning scheme and it does not progress 
to exhibition and assessment by the Council and final determination by the Commission.  

As part of seeking feedback on a legislative framework for DAPs, the scope of this Position 
Paper has been broadened so that where Councillors are, or perceived to be, conflicted or 
compromised, or making a decision based not on planning considerations, whether it may be 
appropriate for the Minister to have the power to direct a Council to initiate in certain 
circumstances. 

If there is support for an alternate planning scheme amendment initiation pathway, it would 
seem logical to include it as part of this project and incorporate any amendments to the Act 
in a single draft Bill. Any recommendations to include an alternate initiation pathway that is 
informed by the outcomes of this consultation process will be further consulted on early 
next year.  

 

2.2 Planning system 
Since 2014, the Government has been implementing significant reforms to the Tasmanian 
planning system, including delivery of the Tasmanian Planning Scheme, the development of 
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the Tasmanian Planning Policies and a comprehensive review of the three regional land use 
strategies. 

The results of these reforms are now becoming apparent. The Tasmanian Planning Scheme is 
in effect in 23 local government areas and the most recent consolidated data from 2021-22 
shows that discretionary applications are being determined in a median timeframe of 38 days 
(40 average) and permitted in 21 days (21 average). Where the ‘clock is stopped’ to request 
further information, discretionary applications are being determined across the State in a 
median of 46 days (53 average) including those ‘clock stopped’ days. 

By way of comparison, noting the differences in assessment processes and classifications, in 
the June 2023 ‘Improving the Performance of Land Zoning, Planning and Land Release 
System’ report prepared for the Australian Government Treasury, average approval times in 
South Australia were around 46 days, Northern Territory 55 days, Australian Capital 
Territory 61 days, New South Wales 83 days, Queensland 86 days and Victoria a median of 
81 days and an average of 129 days. There were no figures for Western Australia, but the 
statutory time frame for the equivalent of permitted developments is 60 days and for 
discretionary is 90 days (as opposed to 28 days and 42 days in Tasmania). 

Tasmanian councils are also determining more applications than ever before, with annual 
totals rising from around 6,500 in 2016-17 to over 12,000 in 2021-22. In 2021-22 there were 
also over 1,750 single dwellings signed off in a matter of days as no permit required. 

These statistics indicate that overall, our planning system is already among the fastest, if not 
the fastest, in the country when it comes to determining development applications.  

However, the broad rights of appeal provided under Tasmanian legislation mean that these 
very timely outcomes are sometimes extended by an appeal process by many months 
resulting in an overall approval timeframe of perhaps 9-12 months. The appeal process 
provides a very important check and review of the initial decision of the planning authority 
by an independent panel of experts with the opportunity for all parties including those that 
made representations, to speak to their issues and test the evidence of other parties. 

A review of the use of panels to determine development applications in other planning 
jurisdiction reveals that most States have an alternate pathway to local councils for 
determining certain developments. Although the nature of each DAP framework differs 
according to the underlying planning system, typically each model relies on meeting certain 
application criteria to be suitable for referring an application to a panel for determination 
with the assessment and determination functions of other development applications 
remaining with local government. Additionally, many of these other jurisdictions do not have 
the broad third party appeal rights that apply in Tasmania, meaning the DAP process and 
decision is more aligned to the appeal or review process. 

Development Assessment Panels, or their equivalent, are already used in the determination 
of certain developments in the Tasmanian planning system including major and state 
significant projects and those which are dependent on a concurrent planning scheme 
amendment.  
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The Tasmanian Planning Commission (the Commission) is an independent statutory 
authority that reviews, advises on, and determines a range of land use planning matters. In 
performing these functions, it delegates tasks to expert panels. 

The current proposal to develop a DAP framework is based on the principle of utilising 
existing parts of the planning system that are working well, including the existing and highly 
regarded independence and expertise of the Commission, in establishing DAPs to determine 
applications.  

With respect to the proposal to introduce a role for the Minister to direct that a planning 
scheme amendment should be initiated, this too will retain the current process with Panels 
established by the Commission determining planning scheme amendments. 

The table below identifies where Panels are currently used to determine development 
applications in the State’s planning system1. While these types of developments are not 
determined by the planning authority, they are informed by, and rely heavily on, the 
information and understanding of local issues received from it through submission, reporting 
or recommendations including a draft permit and conditions.  

 

Legislation Type of Assessment Panel established by: 

LUPAA   Major Project Tasmanian Planning 
Commission 

LUPAA  Combined planning scheme 
amendment and permit 
application 

Tasmanian Planning 
Commission 

Major Infrastructure 
Development Approval Act 
1999   

Linear infrastructure 
proposals across multiple 
municipalities 

Tasmanian Planning 
Commission or decision 
made by a Combined 
Planning Authority 

State Policies and Projects Act 
1993 - 

Projects of State Significance Tasmanian Planning 
Commission 

Table 1. Types of applications determined by independent expert panels. 

The types of developments that are currently determined by a Panel are often complex, 
large in scale, time consuming, expensive and resource intensive assessment processes or 
involve changes to the planning scheme rules. To be eligible for these alternate assessment 
pathways, applications are required to meet eligibility requirements specified in the 
respective Acts.  

 
1 Expert DAPs are also used to determine discretionary development applications where the decision has been 
appealed to TasCAT 
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3. Identification of Issues 

3.1  Conflicting role of Councillors 
Despite the statistical evidence, there remains a perception that some Councils are less 
supportive of new development than others and that on occasion the personal views of 
elected councillors in relation to a proposed development, such as large-scale apartments, or 
social housing, may influence their decision-making despite being outside of the relevant 
planning scheme considerations they are bound to administer as part of the obligations of a 
planning authority. 

The State Government has committed to delivering 10,000 new social and affordable houses 
by 2032. As identified in the Interim Report, where a development is controversial, there 
can be a tension between councillors’ role as community advocates and as members of a 
statutory planning authority. The proposed DAP framework is intended to remove this 
tension and to deliver appropriate and timely assessments of housing projects undertaken by 
Homes Tasmania and registered Community Housing Providers.  

Currently, only a small proportion of all development applications actually come before the 
elected members for decision with between 85 and 90 percent being routinely determined 
under delegation by council officers. These development applications are assessed by council 
planners against the requirements of the relevant planning scheme in accordance with the 
established processes defined in LUPAA.  Many planning authorities delegate the 
determination of development applications to senior officers, and to sub committees. While 
only a small percentage of applications are determined by the full elected council, these 
applications typically involve a significant number of representations and are therefore 
subject to higher levels of local political interest. In some circumstances the full elected 
council will determine any application that has been recommended by council planners for 
refusal or where the application is actually proposed by council. 

Because the evidence is that the inappropriate political determination of applications is 
limited to isolated, but well publicised, cases, the response should be proportional, so it does 
not undermine the integrity and success of the existing reforms, or the planning system 
itself. Changes should only be proposed where an issue has been identified. Additionally, any 
proposed changes should seek to utilise those parts of the assessment process that are 
operating efficiently.  

Based on the discussion so far the following issues have been identified for feedback: 
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Consultation issue 1 – Types of development applications suitable for referral to 
a DAP for determination 

a) What types of development applications are problematic, or perceived to be 
problematic, for Councils to determine and would therefore benefit from being 
determined by a DAP? 

Options 
i. Applications for social and affordable housing which often attract considerable 

opposition within the local community based on social stigma rather than 
planning matters; 

ii. Critical infrastructure; 

iii. Applications where the Council is the applicant and the decision maker; 

iv. Applications where Councillors express a conflict of interest in a matter and a 
quorum to make a decision cannot be reached; 

v. Contentious applications where Councillors may wish to act as elected 
representatives supporting the views of their constituents which might be at 
odds with their role as a member of a planning authority; 

vi. Where an applicant considers there is bias, or perceived bias, on the part of a 
Council or Councillors; 

vii. Complex applications where the Council may not have access to appropriate 
skills or resources;  

viii. Application over a certain value; 

ix. Other? 

b) Who should be allowed to nominate referral of a development application to a DAP 
for determination? 

Options 
i. Applicant 
ii. Applicant with consent of the planning authority; 
iii. Planning authority 
iv. Planning authority with consent of the applicant 
v. Minister 

c) Given the need for a referral of an application to a DAP might not be known until an 
application has progressed through certain stages of consideration (such as those set 
out in a) above) have been carried out, is it reasonable to have a range of referral 
points? 

Options 
i. At the beginning for prescribed proposals; 
ii. Following consultation where it is identified that the proposal is especially 

contentious; 
iii. At the approval stage, where it is identified that Councillors are conflicted. 
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Consultation issue 2 – Provision of an enhanced role for the Minister to direct a 
council to initiate a planning scheme amendment under certain circumstances.  

 

3.2   Retaining local input 
One of the concerns of a DAP framework is that it relies on decisions being made by 
experts that do not necessarily have the local knowledge that would otherwise be available 
within a local council and considered and applied when determining a development 
application.  

The proposed DAP framework can utilise and benefit from this local knowledge. By way of 
example the current assessment process for a combined planning scheme amendment and 
permit application (s. 40T of LUPAA or s.43A under the former provisions of LUPAA) is 
undertaken by both the planning authority and the Commission, with the Commission being 
the final decision maker. For the development application component of a s43A or s40T 
application, it is the planning authority that assesses the proposal against the amended 
provisions of the planning scheme, issues a draft permit, undertakes the notification 
procedures in accordance with the LUPAA, it receives representations and addresses the 
issues raised by the representations. All these matters are presented in a report prepared by 
the council officers and provided to the Commission. Then all parties including those that 
made representations are invited to attend a hearing and present their issues before the final 
determination is made by the panel. 

 
a) Under what circumstances should the Minister have a power to direct 

the initiation of a planning scheme amendment by a Council? 

b) Is it appropriate for the Minister to exercise that power where the 
Council has refused a request from an applicant and its decision has been 
reviewed by the Tasmanian Planning Commission? 

For example: 

Section 40B allows for the Commission to review the planning authority’s 
decision to refuse to initiate a planning scheme amendment and can 
direct the planning authority to reconsider the request. Where that has 
occurred, and the planning authority still does not agree to initiate an 
amendment, is that sufficient reason to allow Ministerial intervention to 
direct the planning authority to initiate the planning scheme amendment, 
subject to the Minister being satisfied that the LPS criteria is met? 
 

c) Are there other threshold tests or criteria that might justify a direction 
being given, such as it aligns to a changed regional land use strategy, it is 
identified to support a key growth strategy, or it would maximise 
available or planned infrastructure provision? 
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This is a tried and tested process that ensures valuable local input into the assessment and 
allows all parties to present their case and be heard directly by the decision maker. Being an 
established process that is understood by planners it has been identified as the preferred 
basis for the preliminary draft DAP framework as presented in Attachment 1. 

Consultation issue 3 –  

i.  Incorporating local knowledge in DAP decision making.  

ii.  DAP framework to complement existing processes and avoid duplication 
of aministrative processes. 

 

3.3  Request for further information 
There have also been concerns raised by both Council and the development industry 
regarding request for further information stalling the determination of development 
applications.  

Application requirements are specified under clause 6.1 of the State Planning Provisions. The 
application requirements are intended to give applicants certainty as to the range of matters 
and level of detail needed in their application to allow the planning authority to undertake its 
assessment against the provisions of the planning scheme.  

Once the planning authority receives a valid application the assessment ‘clock’ commences 
against either the timeframe of 28 days for the assessment of a permitted application or 42 
days for a discretionary application. Section 54 of LUPAA allows the planning authority to 
request additional information from the applicant where the application lacks the necessary 
information for the planning authority to undertake an assessment. The time taken for the 

a) To allow DAP determined applications to be informed by local knowledge, 
should a Council continue to be: 

• the primary contact for applicants; 

• engage in pre-lodgement discussions; 

• receive applications and check for validity; 

• review application and request additional information if required; 

• assess the application against the planning scheme requirements 
and make recommendations to the DAP. 

b) Is the current s43A (former provisions of the Act) and s40T of the Act 
processes for referral of a development application to the Commission, 
initial assessment by Council and hearing procedures suitable for being 
adapted and used in the proposed DAP framework?  
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applicant to respond to the planning authority’s request does not count towards the 
assessment timeframe as the ‘clock is stopped’. The assessment clock recommences once 
the planning authority is satisfied that the information provided addresses the matters raised 
in the request for additional information. 

There is anecdotal evidence that with some contentious proposals (particularly social 
housing) the additional information process is being used to delay or frustrate the timely 
assessment of a proposal. While a request for further information can be appealed to the 
Tasmanian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (TasCAT) the associated costs and uncertainty 
regarding the timeframe for resolution is a deterrent.  

Sections 40A and 40V allows an applicant to request the Commission to review the planning 
authority’s request for additional information for an amendment to an LPS and a combined 
amendment and planning permit (respectively). Similar provisions, sections 33B and 43EA, 
apply under the former provisions of LUPAA. 

These sections of LUPAA provide an opportunity for the applicant to test the requirement 
for, and content of, requests for further information from the planning authority. The 
Commission can direct the planning authority to revoke the request for additional 
information, issue a new notice requesting additional information or determine that the 
request for additional information was appropriate.      

This raises questions around what the appropriate process is for resolving contended 
additional information requests where the proposed DAP process is being used. 

Consultation issue 4 – Resolving issues associated with requests for, and 
responses to, further information. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4  Timeframes for assessment and appeal rights 

The proposed DAP framework incorporates both the review of the application by the 
council (in forming advice) and the DAP (as the decision-maker) and the coordination of 
hearings into representations to provide representors with the opportunity to address the 
panel and final determination by a DAP. This, in effect, combines the initial stage of the 
current process (consideration by the Planning Authority) and a possible subsequent appeals 
process (currently unconstrained by time). The existing statutory 42 day timeframe for 
determining discretionary applications is, therefore, not adequate for this process. 

a) Should a framework for DAP determined development applications adopt a 
process to review further information requests similar to the requirements 
of section 40A and 40V of LUPAA? 

b) Are there any changes that could be made to the Act or planning scheme 
to improve requests for, and responses to, additional information?  
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A DAP framework, utilising the Commission to establish the panel, would be subject to the 
requirements of the Tasmanian Planning Commission Act 1997.  A panel established by the 
Commission is required to determine matters following the rules of natural justice and 
providing for procedural fairness similar to other LUPAA processes that are undertaken by 
the Commission. This involves hearings where the parties can make submissions and be 
heard by the decision maker in much the same way as a TasCAT appeal hearing. 

The purpose of appealing a planning authority’s decision to TasCAT is to provide for an 
independent review of the process, in a public forum and without political interference. By 
using the Commission to establish the DAP, the independent review function will be built 
into the DAP framework. This removes uncertainty, delays and costs associated with 
determining contested applications through TasCAT. 

Legislation Type of 
Assessment 

Decision 
maker 

Subject to 
merit Review 

Judicial 
Review 

LUPAA S 58 development 
application 
(permitted) 

Planning 
authority 

Yes (applicant on 
permit conditions 
only) 

Yes 

LUPAA S 57 development 
application 
(discretionary 

Planning 
authority 

Yes Yes 

LUPAA   Major Project TPC  No Yes 

LUPAA  Combined 
planning scheme 
amendment and 
permit application 

TPC No Yes 

Major 
Infrastructure 
Development 
Approval Act 
1999   

Linear 
infrastructure 
proposals across 
multiple 
municipalities 

Combined 
Planning 
Authority or 
TPC panel 

Yes Yes 

State Policies 
and Projects 
Act 1993 - 

Projects of State 
Significance 

TPC No Yes 

Table 2. Development application processes that are subject to appeal 

Table 2 shows that the only process that allows a TPC decision to be subject to a merit 
appeal to TasCAT is under the Major Infrastructure Development Approval Act 1999 (MIDA). 
An application under MIDA is considered a section 57 application under LUPAA. The 
application is determined by a panel established by the TPC or a Combined Planning 
Authority. In determining the application there is no requirement under MIDA for the 
decision maker to hold a public hearing before making a decision. The appeal rights for 
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MIDA applications are a consequence of not being guaranteed a public hearing in the initial 
determination of the application.  

Consultation issue 5 – Appeal rights and assessment timeframes for DAP 
determined applications. 

3.5 Post determination roles of Council 
Planning authorities are responsible for enforcing permit conditions and considering any 
proposed amendments to permits that have been issued by them. 

It is necessary to explore how these roles and functions might be impacted by the 
development application being determined by a DAP. 

a) Is it reasonable that decisions on DAP determined applications are not subject to 
TasCAT appeals where the TPC holds hearings and provides all parties the 
opportunity to make submissions and test evidence? 

b) Given the integrated nature of the assessment, what are reasonable timeframes for 
DAP determined applications?  

OPTIONS 

Lodging and referrals, including referral to DAP 7 days Running 
total 

DAP confirms referral 7  14 

Further information period (can occur within the 
timeframes above, commencing from time of 
lodgement) 

7 21 

Council assesses development application and 
makes recommendation whether or not to grant a 
permit  

14 35 

Development application, draft assessment report 
and recommendation on permit exhibited for 
consultation 

14 49 

Council provide documents to DAP, including a 
statement of its opinion on the merits of 
representations and whether there are any 
modifications to its original recommendation  

14 63 

DAP hold hearing, determine application and give 
notice to Council of decision 

35 98 

If directed by the DAP, Council to issue a permit to 
the applicant  

7 105 max 
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It is anticipated that the DAP will engage extensively with the planning authority in preparing 
the permit and conditions of approval. Any legislative framework for a DAP model will be 
required to establish the post determination functions of the planning authority.  

Under both State significnat and major project processes, there is a role for the planning 
authority as the normal compliance body for administering the permit. Consistent with the 
principle of the DAP framework utilising current parts of the planning system that are 
operating effectively, it is proposed to parallel the process of TasCAT determinations 
whereby the planning authority is required to administer the planning permit.  

Consultation issue 6 – Roles of the plannng authority post DAP determination of 
a development application. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Draft DAP framework 
Based on initial consultation with key stakeholders, commitments made in the Premier’s 
announcement and the identification of issues as discussed above, the following DAP 
framework has been drafted as a starting point for discussion. 

The draft DAP framework is provided in Attachment 1. The draft framework is cross 
referenced with the Consultation Issues that have been raised in the text boxes in the body 
of this Position Paper. Comments are invited on any other matter that the draft DAP 
framework raises. 

5. Next Steps 
Following the consultation period on the Position Paper the submissions received will be 
reviewed and inform modifications to the DAP framework. Based on the revised framework, 
the Government will prepare a draft amendment to the Act which will be further consulted 
early next year.  

It is proposed that the Bill will be tabled in Parliament in early 2024. 

 

a) Should the planning authority remain the custodian of planning permits and 
be required to issue permits in accordance with a direction from a DAP?  

b) Is it appropriate for planning permits associated with a DAP determined 
application to be enforced the Council? 

c) Is it appropriate for minor amendments (in accordance with s56 of LUPAA) 
to DAP determined permits to be made by the planning authority? 
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ATTACHMENT 1 - Draft DAP Framework 
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Draft Development Assessment Panel (DAP) Framework 

 
2 must comply with 51(1AC) and (1AB) and 51A; 

(1AC) For the purpose of subsection (1AB), a valid application is an application that contains all relevant information required by the planning scheme applying to the land that is the subject of the 
application.  

(1AB) A planning authority must not refuse to accept a valid application for a permit, unless the application does not include a declaration that the applicant has- 
a) notified the owner of the intention to make the application; or 
b) obtained the written permission of the owner under section 52. 

Section 51A refers to the payment of application fee. 
 

Ref Stage of 
assessment 
process 

Responsible 
person/ 
authority 

Proposed Framework  Comments and additional Questions for consultation 

1 Pre-lodgement 
discussion between 
applicant and 
planning authority 

Planning 
Authority 
and 
applicant 

 
No change to current process. 
 

Existing informal processes undertaken on an as needs 
basis.  
 
Discussions may include whether or not the 
development application is eligible for DAP referral. 
 

2 Lodge 
Development 
Application 

Applicant 
lodges with 
Planning 
Authority 

 
No change to current process 

Existing process for the lodgement of development 
applications. 

3 Determination of 
valid application 
and referral to 
other entities 

Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority reviews application and 
determines if the application is valid in accordance 
with the existing provisions of the Act. 
 
Refers application to TasWater, Tasmanian Heritage 
Council or EPA as required. 

Existing process for determining that a development 
application is valid2.  
 
See section 24 and 25 of this section for information 
regarding application fees. 
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4A Planning Authority 
reviews 
Development 
Application and 
decides if it is to be 
determined by a 
DAP. 
 
Discretionary 
referral 

Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority to determine if the Development 
Application should be referred to a DAP for 
determination.  
 
The Planning Authority may determine that the 
development application meets the criteria for DAP 
referral and, if so, notifies, and seeks endorsement 
from the applicant, to refer the development 
application to the DAP for determination, within 7 
days of the Planning Authority receiving a valid 
application. 
 
The applicant may also make a request to the 
Planning Authority for it to consider referring the 
application to a DAP for determination subject to the 
Planning Authority being satisfied that the 
application meets the criteria for DAP referral.  
 
DAP Criteria 
An application may be suitable for referring to a DAP 
if it is a discretionary application and the referral is 
endorsed by both the Planning Authority and the 
applicant, provided one or more of the following 
criteria for DAP referral is satisfied: 
 

• where the council is the proponent and the 
planning authority; 

• the application is for a development over 
$10 million in value, or $5 million in value 
and proposed in a non-metropolitan 
municipality;  

Refer to Consultation issue 1 in the Position Paper. 
 
 
 
 
Additional considerations: 

Is 7 days a reasonable timeframe for this function to be 
undertaken by the Planning Authority? Could it be 
delegated to senior planning staff? 

Where a dispute arises between the Applicant and the 
Planning Authority over a development application being 
referred to a DAP for determination, is it appropriate for 
the Minister to have a role in resolving, subject to being 
satisfied that the development application meets the DAP 
criteria? 
If not the Minister, who should be responsible for 
resolving the matter? 
 
Is it appropriate to consider the value of a development 
as a criteria for referral to a DAP for determination? If so, 
what should the stated value be? 
 
Note: 
See sections 21 and 22 of this table which provides 
options for development applications to be referred at 
later stages of the assessment process as issues become 
apparent, such as after exhibition.  
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• the application is of a complex nature   and 
council supports the application being 
determined by a DAP; 

•  
• the application is potentially contentious, 

where Councillors may wish to act politically, 
representing the views of their constituents, 
rather than as a planning authority; or 

• Where there is a case of bias, or perceived 
bias, established on the part of the Planning 
Authority.  

 
 

 

4B Planning Authority 
reviews 
Development 
Application and 
decides if it is to be 
referred to DAP 
Mandatory 
Referral 

 The Planning Authority must determine to refer the 
development application to a DAP for 
determination, within 7 days of the Planning 
Authority receiving a valid application, if the 
development application is a discretionary 
application and for a prescribed purpose: 
 
Prescribed purpose: 

• An application over $1 million where the 
council is the proponent and the planning 
authority; 

• An application from Homes Tas for 
subdivision for social or affordable housing 
or development of dwellings for social and 
affordable;  

• An application for critical infrastructure; 
• Other(?) 

 

Refer to Consultation issue 1 in the Position Paper. 
 
Additional considerations: 

Is 7 days a reasonable timeframe for this function to be 
undertaken by the Planning Authority? Could it be 
delegated to senior planning staff? 

Are there any other examples of development 
applications under the prescribed purposes that might be 
suitable for referral to a DAP for determination? 

Is it appropriate to consider the value of a development 
for DAP referral where council is the applicant? 
If so, what value is reasonable? 

What might be considered as ‘critical infrastructure’? 
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5 PA requests 
referral of DA to 
DAP for 
determination.  

Planning 
Authority 
and DAP 

Planning Authority requests referral of the 
development application to the DAP within 7 days of 
the Planning Authority determining that the 
development application is suitable for DAP referral 
in accordance with section 4A and 4B above.  
 
The Planning Authority’s written referral request 
includes all the material that comprises the 
development application (at this stage).  
 
If the DAP does not agree that the development 
application meets the DAP criteria or is for a 
prescribed purpose, the DAP must give notice to the 
Planning Authority and applicant of its decision.  
 
If the DAP does not agree that the development 
application meets the DAP criteria, the assessment 
of the development application continues in 
accordance with the existing LUPAA provisions.  
 
If the DAP accepts the Planning Authority’s request 
that the development application meets the criteria 
for DAP referral or is for a prescribed purpose, the 
DAP must give notice, within 7 days of receiving the 
Planning Authority’s request, to the Planning 
Authority and applicant of its decision. 
 

   
Should the time taken for an application that has been 
referred to a DAP for determination that, in the opinion 
of the DAP, does not satisfy the relevant referral criteria 
or is not for a prescribed purpose, count towards the 
relevant period referred to in s57(6)(b) of the Act given 
the assessment will continue in accordance with a s57 
application if it is not eligible for DAP referral? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 Review of DA to 
determine if 
further information 
is required to 

Planning 
Authority  

Where the DAP has accepted the Planning 
Authority’s request to refer the development 
application to the DAP for determination, the 
Planning Authority reviews the development 
application to determine if additional information is 

Additional information request can occur simultaneously 
with the Planning Authority’s request for DAP 
determination. Regardless of the outcome of the request 
to refer the development application to the DAP, the 
Planning Authority is required to ensure it has the 
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undertake the 
assessment 

required and, if so, must make a request within 21 
days of receiving a valid application.  
 
Clock stops while waiting for the applicant to 
provide additional information to the satisfaction of 
the Planning Authority. 
 

necessary information it needs to undertake the 
assessment.  
 
The 21 day timeframe and ‘stopping the clock’ is 
consistent with section 54 of the Act. 

7 Review of further 
information 
requests 

Applicant  Within 14 days after being served a request for 
further information in accordance with 6 above, the 
applicant may request the DAP to review the 
Planning Authority’s additional information request. 
 
The DAP, within 14 days of receiving a request to 
review the PA’s additional information requirement 
must: 

• Support the Planning Authority’s request for 
additional information; 

• Revoke the Planning Authority’s request for 
additional information; or 

• Issue a new notice to the applicant 
requesting additional information. 

 
The DAP must give notice of its decision to the 
Planning Authority and applicant. 

Refer to Consultation issue 4 in the Position Paper. 
 
Because the DAP has agreed that the DA will be DAP 
determined, it already has a copy of the development 
application. 
 
The review of a Planning Authority’s request for 
additional information is similar to the existing provisions 
under s40V of the Act.  

8 Provision and 
review of 
additional 
information. 

Applicant 
and Planning 
Authority  

Once the applicant provides the additional 
information and, in the opinion of the planning 
authority, it satisfies either the original request or 
one that has been modified by the DAP, the 
assessment clock recommences. 
 
If the additional information does not satisfy the 
original request or one that has been modified by 

This part of the framework is similar to existing 
processes. 
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the DAP, the Planning Authority advises the 
applicant of the outstanding matters and the clock 
remains stopped. 

9 Planning Authority 
assesses DA  

Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority assesses the application against 
the requirements of the planning scheme and 
recommends either: 

• granting a permit; or 
• refusing to grant a permit.  

 

Refer to Consultation Issue 3 in the Position Paper. 
Note: 
The proposed framework has adopted a process that is 
similar to the section 40T of the Act process where 
council assesses the application and then places the 
application and the Planning Authority’s report on 
exhibition (as below). 
 

10 Public notification 
of application and 
Planning Authority 
recommendations 

Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority to advertise the development 
application, its assessment report and 
recommendations, including a draft permit (if 
recommended for approval), for a period of 14 days 
(and in accordance with section 9 of the LUPAA 
Regulations) during which time representations are 
received. 
 
 

 

11 Planning Authority 
to review 
representations 

Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority to review representations and 
prepare a statement of its opinion as to the merits of 
each representation and the need for any 
modification to its recommendation on the 
development application, including the draft permit 
and conditions. 

This part of the proposed framework is similar to the 
existing provisions of section 42 of the Act. 

12 Provision of all 
documents to the 
DAP 

Planning 
Authority 

The Planning Authority provides DAP with: 
• a copy of the application (although they 

should already have it) and any further 
information received; 

• a copy of the recommendation report and 
any draft permit;  

This part of the proposed framework is similar to existing 
processes for a section 40T(1) application 
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• a copy of all the representations;  and 
• a statement of its opinion as to the merits of 

each representation and any modifications 
to its original recommendations on the DA 
as a consequence of reviewing the 
representations;  

• DAP fee (refer to section 25) 
within 14 days of the completion of the exhibition 
period. 

13 DAP review and 
publication of 
information and 
hearing 
determination  

DAP DAP reviews and publishes all the information 
provided by the Planning Authority (as listed in 12 
above) and notifies all parties advising that they 
have received the relevant documents from the 
Planning Authority, where those documents can be 
viewed and requesting advice regarding which 
parties would like to attend a hearing. 
 
If there are no representations or no parties that 
wish to attend a hearing, the DAP may dispense with 
the requirement to hold a hearing. 
 
The DAP must notify the Planning Authority, 
applicant and representors of their determination to 
hold, or dispense with holding, a hearing. 
 

An option is given to dispense with the requirement for a 
DAP to hold a hearing in situation where there are no 
representations, all representations are in support, 
representations have been revoked or there are no 
representations that want to attend a hearing. 
 
 

14 DAP hearing into 
representations 

DAP Representors, applicant and Planning Authority 
invited to attend hearing and make submissions to 
the DAP on the development application. 
Parties to the proceedings must be given at least one 
weeks’ notice before the hearing is scheduled. 
 

The draft permit conditions are subject to contemplation 
by the parties at the hearing. It is anticipated that this 
will resolve issues around the future enforcement of 
those conditions by council or other issues that would 
otherwise arise and be subject to appeal through 
TasCAT.  
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Natural justice and procedural fairness for conduct 
of hearings consistent with Tasmanian Planning 
Commission Act 1997. 
 
DAP hearings are encouraged to be held locally. 
 

15 DAP determination DAP DAP undertakes the assessment considering all the 
information and evidence presented at the hearing 
and determines the development application. 
 
DAP must determine application within 35 days from 
receiving documents from Planning Authority (under 
section 12 above) 
 
DAP may request an extension of time from the 
Minister. 

Refer to Consultation Issue 5 in the Position Paper for 
questions regarding assessment timeframes. 
 
 

16 Notification of DAP 
decision 

DAP Within 7 days of the DAP determining the 
development application it must give notice of its 
decision to the Planning Authority, applicant and 
representors. 

Similar to existing notification provisions under section 
57(7). 

17 Issuing of Permit 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DAP/ 
Planning 
Authority 

If the decision of the DAP is to grant a permit, the 
DAP must, in its notice to the Planning Authority 
(under section 16 above), direct it to issue a permit 
in accordance with its decision within 7 days from 
receiving the notice from the DAP. 
 
The permit becomes effective 1 week from the day it 
is issued by the Planning Authority. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18 Enforcement 
 

Planning 
Authority 

The Planning Authority is responsible for enforcing 
the permit.  
 

Refer to Consultation Issue 6 in the Position Paper. 
This is the same process for permits issued by TasCAT. 
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Other opportunities for a development application to be referred to a DAP 
 

19 Appeal rights All parties There is no right of appeal on the grounds of 
planning merit as the decision has been made by an 
independent panel with all parties engaged in the 
process. 
 

Refer to Consultation Issue 5 in the Position Paper for 
questions regarding appeal rights. 
While the draft framework proposes that DAP 
determined development applications are not subject to 
a merit appeal, the decision of the DAP is subject to 
judicial review by virtue of the Judicial Review Act 1997. 

20 Minor amendment 
to permits 

Planning 
Authority 

A Planning Authority can receive a request for a 
minor amendment to a permit involving an 
application that has been determined by a DAP.  
  

Refer to Consultation Issue 6 in the Position Paper. 
Minor amendments to permits are assessed by the 
Planning Authority against the existing provisions of 
section 56 of the Act. 

Ref Stage of assessment 
process 

Responsible 
person/ authority 

Proposed Framework Comment 

21 Ministerial Call in 
Powers 
 

Planning 
Authority or 
applicant 

At any stage of the assessment process the 
applicant or Planning Authority may make a 
request to the Minister that a development 
application be referred to a DAP for 
determination. 
 
The Minister may refer the application to a DAP 
provided the Minister is satisfied that the 
development application meets the DAP criteria. 
 
 

This provides an opportunity for referral when issues 
only become apparent at the later stages of the 
assessment process.  

Is it appropriate for the Minister to have the power to 
call in a development application in these 
circumstances? 

In this scenario, is it necessary for the applicant and 
Planning Authority to agree to the request? 

22 Ministerial referral 
of DA to DAP 

Minister Where the Minister refers the DA to a DAP for 
determination (in accordance with 21 above), 
the Minister must, by notice to the DAP and 
Planning Authority (if required), direct the DAP 
and Planning Authority (if required) to 

Because this type of referral can occur at any stage, 
there needs to be a direction to specify those parts of 
the assessment process that still needs to be 
completed. These processes will include elements that 
need to be undertaken by the DAP and may include 
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DAP membership 

Development application fees 

undertake an assessment of the development 
application and specify the process and 
timeframes for the DAP and Planning Authority 
(if required) to follow.  The Minister can also 
specify that the Planning Authority must provide 
all relevant documents relating to the 
application and its assessment to the DAP within 
a timeframe. 

elements that need to be undertaken by the Planning 
Authority. 
The Planning Authority is required to provide all 
relevant documents to the DAP  

Ref Stage of assessment 
process 

Responsible 
person/ 
authority 

Proposed Framework Comment 

23 Establishment of 
Panel  

Tasmanian 
Planning 
Commission 
(Commission) 

No change to existing Commission processes.  
 
 

The framework adopts the Commission’s well 
established processes for delegating assessment 
functions to panels. 

Ref Stage of assessment 
process 

Responsible 
person/ 
authority 

Proposed Framework Comment 

24 Lodging DA Planning 
Authority 

Planning Authority charges applicant normal 
application fees. 

Planning Authority doing the same amount of work, 
just not making the determination so is entitled to 
the application fee.  

25 DAs referred to DAP 
for determination 

Planning 
Authority and 
DAP 

A DAP determined development application will 
incur an additional application fee. 

The Planning Authority is to charge the 
applicant an additional fee at the time the DAP 

Additional fee is to cover some of the costs incurred 
by the Commission. 
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notifies the Planning Authority that they have 
accepted the Planning Authority’s request to 
refer the development application. 

The DAP application fee is to be included in the 
information provided to the DAP following the 
exhibition of the development application 
(section 12 above). 

No order for costs can be awarded by the DAP. 

The additional application fee is going to be 
cheaper than the cost of going to a full tribunal 
hearing. 
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Department of Premier and Cabinet 
State Planning Office 

Phone: 
1300 703 977 

Email: 
stateplanning@dpac.tas.gov.au 

www.planningreform.tas.gov.au 
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Corporate Services
Council Audit Panel Minutes of Meeting

Report Author Justin Marshall
Acting Director Corporate Services 

Authorised by Jonathan Harmey
General Manager

Decision Sought Council receive the minutes of the September Audit Panel meeting. 

Vote Simple majority

Recommendation to Council

That Council receives the minutes of the Audit Panel meeting, held on 26 September 
2023, in Attachment 1.

 Report

The purpose of this report is for Council to receive the minutes of the Council Audit Panel 
meeting held on 26 September 2023.

The minutes of the meeting have been reviewed and confirmed by the Council Audit 
Panel Chair Andrew Gray. The minutes are provided for Council’s information, as required 
under the Audit Panel Charter.

Attachments 1. Audit Panel Minutes: 26 September 2023 [14.1.1 - 6 pages]

Strategy Supports the objectives of Council’s strategic future direction 5: 
innovative leadership and community governance.

See Meander Valley Community Strategic Plan 2014-24. Click here 
or visit www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-and-strategies to view.

Policy The recommendation fulfils the requirements outlined in Council’s 
Audit Panel Charter confirmed at the July 2022 Council Meeting.

Legislation Local Government Act 1993: s85, 85A and 85B.

https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports
https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports
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Local Government (Audit Panels) Orders.

Consultation Not applicable

Budget & Finance Not applicable

Risk Management Not applicable

Alternative
Motions

Not applicable



MINUTES – Meander Valley Council Audit Panel Meeting – 26 SEPTEMBER 2023 Page 1 

 

 

Audit Panel 

Minutes 

Meeting Time & Date:  

9:00am, 26 September 2023 

Venue:  

Meander Valley Council – Council Chambers 

Present: 

Chairman Andrew Gray Councillor Kevin House 

Mr Ken Clarke Councillor Ben Dudman 

In Attendance: 

Dino De Paoli, Director Infrastructure Services 
Wezley Francombe, Manager Governance 

and Performance 

Krista Palfreyman, Director Development & 

Regulatory Services 
Stephen Morrison - Tasmanian Audit Office 

Justin Marshall, Acting Director Corporate Services Susan Ellston, Finance Officer 

Apologies: 

Matthew Millwood, Director Works Jon Harmey, General Manager 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

13. Consider any available audit reports 

 

The unaudited 2022-23 Financial Statements were tabled.  

 

Stephen Morrison from the Tasmanian Audit Office (TAO) joined via Zoom meeting at 09:00 

am. Stephen advised they are not too far away from concluding the Audit.  

 

Comment was noted around the provisions for after-care and whether Council is 

comfortable with the figure.   Council noted that it is reasonably comfortable with the figure. 

Initial rehabilitation plans for Cluan are not yet finalised, some costs could be quite 

significant and there are some risks with unknown costs yet to be set. 

 

The financial audit will aim to be completed by the end of September 2023.  

 

There we no questions from the Audit Panel and the TAO left the meeting at 09:20 am. 

 

Report was received and Noted. 

 
 

ITEM 

1. Declaration of Pecuniary Interests/conflict of interest 

Nil. 

 

2. Adoption of Previous Minutes 

It was resolved that the minutes of the meetings held on 27 June 2023 be received and 

confirmed. 
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3. Outstanding from previous meeting - Action Sheet 

 

3.1 - Policy No. 81 – Online Communication (social media Councillors) - a complete re-

write of this policy has been done.  No action by Governance, to be progressed December 

2023 quarter. 

 

Received and noted. 

 

3.2 - Policy No. 37 – Vegetation Management - deferred to consider relevance of 

policy.  Likely current policy will be replaced with either a new policy focused on risk 

management of trees in public areas, or procedural responses as part of asset management 

work practice.  No action by Governance, to be progressed December 2023 quarter. 

 

Received and noted. 

 

3.3 - Review Policies and Procedures - The External Audit JLT Waste Transfer Station 

(WTS) Management Report was submitted to the Audit Panel meeting.  

 

A Consultant, The Safety Process (TSP), have been engaged to review safety systems and 

processes implemented by contractor JustWaste.  Council officers held an initial meeting 

with TSP on 8 September 2023.  Inspections at Cluan & Deloraine sites scheduled for 21 & 

22 September 2023.  Mole Creek tbc. 

 

Contractor will be participating in the inspections and assessment process.  Copy of JLT 

audit info has been provided to TSP for background. 

 

A report from the new Contractor is due soon and will be presented at the December 2023 

meeting.  

 

Received and noted. 

 

3.4 Review of Annual Budget and report to Council – Council’s annual budget 

estimates and Long-Term Financial Plan summary were approved by Council on 27 June 

2023: 

 

Received and noted. 

 

3.5 - Policy No. 71 – Investment of Surplus Council Funds was presented and discussed by 

the Audit Panel. The Policy is in place until March 2024.  

 

Council seems to be getting a good return overall with AAA and BBB accounts. The 

maximum lock in period is 12 months which seems to roll quite nicely on maturity per 

month for cash flow purposes. 

 

An updated version will be presented at December 2023 meeting. 

 

Received and noted. 
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3.6 Report to Council regarding execution of duties and responsibilities by the Audit 

Panel – The Audit Panel annual report for 2023 was received, and annual work plan for 

2024 was approved by Council on 11 July 2023.  

 

Received and noted. 

 

Governance and Strategy 

4. Review Annual Plan 

Council’s 2023-24 annual plan was adopted by Council on 8 August 2023 and presented to 

the Audit Panel for comment. 

 

Received and Noted. 

 

5. Review Long-Term Strategic Asset Management Plan 

The Long-Term Strategic Asset Management plan was adopted in February 2020, the next 

review date is February 2024. 

 

Target for presentation to December Audit Panel Meeting then February 2024 Council 

Workshop.  Approval at March 2024 Council meeting. 

 

Information Received and Noted. 

 

6. Review Asset Management Strategy 

Council’s Asset Management Strategy is incorporated into the Strategic Asset Management 

Plan (SAMP)  

 

Information Received and Noted. 

 

7. Review Asset Management Policy 

Council’s Asset Management Policy No.60 is scheduled for review in February 2024. 

 

Information Received and Noted. 

 

8. Asset Capitalisation and project closeout report for TAO 

Asset Capitalisation & Project Closeout Report 2022-23 Financial Year is to be distributed 

to the Audit Panel for comment. 

 

Carry forward to December 2023 meeting. 

 

Received & Noted. 

 

9. Review policies and procedures 

 

Policy No. 86 – Industrial Development Incentive 

No action by Governance, to be progressed December 2023 quarter. 

 

Noted. 

 

 

 

14.1.1 Audit Panel Minutes: 26 September 2023

Meander Valley Council - Ordinary Meeting Agenda: 14 November 2023 Page 285



MINUTES – Meander Valley Council Audit Panel Meeting – 26 SEPTEMBER 2023 Page 4 

 

10. Assessment of governance and operating processes integration with financial 

management practices of the Council 

Carry forward to December 2024 meeting. 

 

Noted. 

 

Financial and Management Reporting 

11. Review most current results and report any relevant findings to Council 

A preliminary 30 June 2023 financial report (pre audit) was provided to Council on 11 July 

2023. 

 

It was noted there was a high number of Term Deposits, this was due to a large influx of cash 

recently.  

 

It was noted that the after-care provision note has changed, Council now has a process 

looking at the project. A long-term draft waste strategy is in place ready to be rolled out for 

Councillor and General Manager for comment. 

 

Received and Noted. 

 

12. Review any business unit or special financial reports 

Nothing to report. 

 

13. Review annual financial report, audit report and management representation letter 

(for advice to GM) and make recommendation to Council including meeting with 

Tasmania Audit representative. 

The unaudited 2022-23 Financial Statements were presented. The statements are currently 

in the process of being audited by the Tasmanian Audit Office. 

 

Received and Noted. 

 

Internal Audit 

14. Consider any available audit reports 

No internal audit reports to provide.  

 

ICT Governance internal audit proposals were not accepted by the former General Manager 

or Work Health & Safety Officer. A new Work Health & Safety Officer has been appointed, 

commencing the week starting 16 October.  

 

EMT recently met to review the strategic risk register, marked up changes from that session 

and a copy was presented to the Audit Panel for Comment.   

 

Audit corrective actions from Major Project Controls/Variations (Synetic audit) – There are 7 

actions required including review of Code of Tenders and Contracts. Director of 

Infrastructure provided an update. 

 

Information Received and Noted. 
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15. Review management’s implementation of audit recommendations 

The Outstanding Corrective Actions Register was presented for comment, continuous 

improvements have been made with the register however no progress due to the lack of 

resources. The new Work health & Safety officer will pick up when they commence. 

 

Received and Noted.  
 

External Audit  

16. Consider any available audit reports 

The Tasmanian Audit Office Council’s first claim for Natural Disaster Relief funding for the 

October 2022 floods and Audit Report was presented for comment. It was noted that an 

unmodified Audit Report was received. 

 

Reports Received and Noted. 

 

17. Consider any performance audit reports that will be undertaken by the Tasmanian 

Audit Office and address implications for the Council 

The Tasmanian Audit Office Amendments to the Private Works Undertaken by Councils audit 

plan was presented. Very little Private Works has been completed by Council. 

 

Report Received and Noted. 
 

Risk Management and Compliance 

18. Monitor ethical standards and any related transactions to determine the systems of 

control are adequate and review how ethical and lawful behaviour and culture is 

promoted within the Council 

No reported issues to note. Council’s culture action plan project could include aspects for 

ethical and lawful behaviour.  

 

Information Received & Noted. 
 

19. Review processes to manage insurable risks and existing insurance cover 

Additional insurance requirements were considered when implementing insurance policy 

renewals to be in place 1 July 2023. All other existing policies were renewed and in place for 

1 July 2023. 

 

Received and Noted.  

 

20. Monitor any major claims or lawsuits by or against the Council and complaints 

against the Council 

Nil to Report. 

 

21. Oversee the investigation of any instances of suspected cases of fraud or other illegal 

and unethical behaviour 

Nil to Report. 
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Other Business 

22.       Ken Clarke questioned when the Community Strategic Plan will be updated. Resourcing is 

an issue as there has only been three employees to fill this space. 

 

Noted. 

 

Meeting close 

 

This meeting closed at 10:18 am 

 

In-camera discussion 

23.     The independent members of the Audit Panel held an in-camera session with Councillor 

members to understand Council's recruitment and appointment process for the recently 

filled General Manager position. The independent members were satisfied with the 

explanations, background and context provided. 

 

Next Meeting  

 

The next meeting to be held on Tuesday 19 December 2023 at 10.00 am 
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2022-23 Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report

Corporate Services
2022-23 Financial Statements and Independent 
Auditor’s Report

Report Author Justin Marshall
Acting Director Corporate Services

Authorised by Jonathan Harmey
General Manager

Decision Sought Council receives the certified 2022-23 Financial Statements and 
associated Delegate of the Auditor-General’s independent audit 
report.

Vote Simple majority

Recommendation to Council

That Council receives the certified 2022-23 Financial Statements and associated Delegate 
of the Auditor-General’s independent audit report.          

 Report

Council’s Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 were prepared and 
submitted to the Tasmanian Audit Office on 14 August 2023.

A copy of the Tasmanian Audit Office’s report and opinion is attached along with the 
following statements:

• Statement of Comprehensive Income;
• Statement of Financial Position;
• Statement of Changes in Equity; and
• Statement of Cash Flows.

These are the major statements from the Financial Statements that will appear in 
Council’s Annual Report for presentation at the Annual General Meeting in December 
2023.
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The Tasmanian Audit Office has found that Council’s financial report presents fairly in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1993 and Australian Accounting Standards.

The operating activities for the 2023 financial year resulted in a net profit of $3,251,929 
however after removing capital, non-recurrent items and the prepaid Financial Assistance 
Grant for 2024, there was an underlying deficit of $1,215,223. The financial performance 
was significantly impacted by the flood event in October 2022, with approximately $2.7m 
of expenditure on flood remediation costs during the 2023 financial year.

A full overview of Council’s financial performance will be provided in the 2022-23 Annual 
Report.

Attachments 1. Independent Auditors Report (Opinion) - 30 June 2023 
[14.2.1 - 4 pages]

2. 2022-23 Financial Statements [14.2.2 - 4 pages]

Strategy Supports the objectives of Council’s strategic future direction 5: 
innovative leadership and community governance.

See Meander Valley Community Strategic Plan 2014-24. Click here 
or visit www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-and-strategies to view.

Policy Not applicable

Legislation Local Government Act 1993: s84.

Consultation Council’s Annual General Meeting provides the opportunity for 
community comment on the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements.

Budget & Finance Not applicable

Risk Management Not applicable

Alternative
Motions

Not applicable

https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports
https://www.meander.tas.gov.au/plans-reports
https://www.legislation.tas.gov.au/view/whole/html/inforce/current/sr-2014-034
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Councillors of Meander Valley Council 

Meander Valley Council 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Meander Valley Council (Council), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023 and statements of comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the 
statement of certification signed by the General Manager. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report:  

(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) is in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993 and Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of Council in accordance with 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the 
Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 
Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate 
and is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be 
exercised. The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all 
documents and property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-
General’s opinion are significant. 

My audit responsibility does not extend to the budget figures included in the financial 
report, nor the asset renewal funding ratio disclosed in note 43(f) to the financial report and 
accordingly, I express no opinion on them. Furthermore, I express no opinion on the General 
Manager’s determination that Council did not have any Significant Business Activities for 
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inclusion in the financial report as required by Section 84(2)(da) of the Local Government Act 
1993.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 
significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my 
opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Why this matter is considered to be one of 
the most significant matters in the audit 

Audit procedures to address the matter 
included 

Valuation of Property and infrastructure assets 
Refer to notes 21 to 32 and 44 

At 30 June 2023, Council’s assets included 
land, land under roads, buildings, and 
infrastructure assets, such as roads and 
streets, bridges and stormwaters assets 
valued at fair value totalling $247.41 million. 
The fair values of these assets are based on 
market values and current replacement cost. 

Council undertakes formal revaluations on a 
regular basis to ensure valuations represent 
fair value. In between valuations Council 
considers the application of indexation to 
ensure that carrying values reflect fair 
values. 

During the year, Council undertook a 
revaluation of land, buildings and 
stormwater assets. The fair value of 
buildings assets was determined by external 
experts and stormwater assets was 
determined by internal experts. Indexation 
was applied to roads and bridges. 

The calculation of fair values is judgemental 
and highly dependent upon a range of 
assumptions and estimates. 

 

• Assessing the scope, expertise and 
independence of experts engaged to 
assist in the valuations.  

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodologies applied to 
determine the fair values.  

• Evaluating management’s oversight of 
valuation processes and assessment of 
results.  

• Critically assessing assumptions and 
other key inputs in the valuation 
models.  

• Testing, on a sample basis, the 
mathematical accuracy of valuation 
model calculations.  

• Reviewing the accuracy of recording 
independent values in Council’s asset 
register and general ledger.  

• Evaluating indexation applied to assets 
between formal valuations.  

• Evaluating the adequacy of disclosures 
made in the financial report, including 
those regarding key assumptions used. 

Responsibilities of the General Manager for the Financial Report 

The General Manager is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 
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1993 and for such internal control as determined necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the General Manager is responsible for assessing Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Council is to be dissolved by 
an Act of Parliament or the Councillors intend to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Council’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the General Manager.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the General Manager’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
Council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusion is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause Council 
to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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I communicate with the General Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the General Manager, I determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 
Stephen Morrison 
Assistant Auditor-General 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
Tasmanian Audit Office 

 

28 September 2023 
Hobart  
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 30 June 2023

Budget Actual Actual

2023 2023 2022

Note $ $ $

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Recurrent Income

Rates and Charges 15,750,400      15,932,599      14,654,722      

Interest 3 595,700          1,136,810       525,510          

Reimbursements and Contributions Monetary Assets 331,400          532,474          419,099          

User Fees and Charges 1,482,600       1,568,726       1,550,523       

Operational Grants 4 4,894,600       7,057,597       6,261,821       

Investment Revenue from Water Corporation 667,200          667,200          667,200          

23,721,900      26,895,406      24,078,875      

Capital & Non-Recurrent Income

Capital Grants 4 8,426,000       2,134,213       1,899,667       

Subdivision Assets Taken Over 645,000          2,809,200       1,884,809       

Contributions Monetary Assets -                 12,850            100,909          

Non-Recurrent Profit/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets 10 -                 51,142            -                 

9,071,000       5,007,405       3,885,385       

TOTAL INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 32,792,900      31,902,811      27,964,260      

EXPENSES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Recurrent Expenditure

Employee Costs 5 8,810,430       8,437,621       7,701,886       

Materials and Contracts 6 9,698,280       11,476,606      8,618,824       

Depreciation and Amortisation 7 5,918,500       5,856,458       5,624,060       

Finance Costs 8 251,700          262,953          248,078          

Other Expenses 9 141,500          137,981          121,959          

Recurrent (Profit)/Loss on Disposal of Assets 10 108,800          56,756            29,932            

24,929,210      26,228,375      22,344,739      

Capital & Non-Recurrent Expenditure

Recognition of Tip Site Aftercare Provision 34 -                 2,422,507       -                 

-                 2,422,507       -                 

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 24,929,210      28,650,882      22,344,739      

OPERATING RESULT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 2(a) 7,863,690       3,251,929       5,619,521       

OPERATING RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS -                 -                 -                 

NET OPERATING RESULT FOR THE YEAR 7,863,690       3,251,929       5,619,521       

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net result

Fair value adjustments on equity investment assets 18 -                 1,545,392       1,314,232       

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 35 -                 18,692,389      (13,123,849)    

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -                 20,237,781      (11,809,617)    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 7,863,690       23,489,710      (6,190,096)      

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2023

Actual Actual

2023 2022

Note $ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 2,450,689            598,646               

Trade and Other Receivables 12 1,496,474            5,802,615            

Investments 13 26,081,732          23,724,396          

Other 14 551,454               199,089               

Total Current Assets 2(b) 30,580,349          30,324,746          

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in Water Corporation 18 48,882,749          47,337,357          

Loans and Other Receivables 19 -                      162,000               

Work in Progress 20 1,888,713            1,172,249            

Land 21 12,634,325          13,385,905          

Land Under Roads 22 29,222,665          29,106,910          

Land Improvements 23 10,043,600          9,793,652            

Buildings 24 27,414,062          23,728,233          

Roads and Streets 25 123,689,297        109,476,214        

Bridges 26 32,843,684          28,475,859          

Stormwater 27 21,605,205          22,052,629          

Plant and Equipment 28 3,027,203            3,374,165            

Heritage 29 18,641                 18,922                 

Computer Software 30 142,300               106,548               

Valuations 31 68,069                 102,150               

Total Non-Current Assets 2(b) 311,480,513        288,292,793        

TOTAL ASSETS 342,060,862         318,617,539        

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and Other Payables 15 1,687,790            1,808,345            

Provisions 16 1,464,797            1,465,878            

Contract Liabilities 17 2,100,847            1,322,107            

Borrowings 33 -                      3,600,000            

Total Current Liabilities 5,253,434            8,196,330            

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 34 9,207,654            6,311,145            

Total Non-Current Liabilities 9,207,654            6,311,145            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,461,088           14,507,475          

NET ASSETS 327,599,774        304,110,064        

EQUITY

Accumulated Surplus 227,536,760        224,284,831        

Reserves 35 100,063,014        79,825,233          

TOTAL EQUITY 327,599,774        304,110,064        

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2023

Asset 

Total Accumulated Revaluation Fair Value

2023 Surplus Reserves Reserve

Note $ $ $ $

Balance at beginning of the financial year 304,110,064        224,284,831       84,174,952 (4,349,719)      

Net Operating Result for the Year 3,251,929       3,251,929       -                 -                 

Other Comprehensive Income:

  Fair Value adjustment to Investment in Water Corp. 18 1,545,392       -                 -                 1,545,392       

  Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 35 18,692,389      -                 18,692,389      -                 

Balance at end of the financial year 327,599,774    227,536,760    102,867,341    (2,804,327)      

Asset 

Total Accumulated Revaluation Fair Value

2022 Surplus Reserves Reserve

$ $ $ $

Balance at beginning of the financial year 310,300,160    218,665,310    97,298,801      (5,663,951)      

Net Operating Result for the Year 5,619,521       5,619,521       -                 -                 

Other Comprehensive Income:

  Fair Value adjustment to Investment in Water Corp. 18 1,314,232       -                 -                 1,314,232       

  Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 35 (13,123,849)    -                 (13,123,849)    -                 

Balance at end of the financial year 304,110,064    224,284,831    84,174,952      (4,349,719)      

2023

2022

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 30 June 2023

Actual Actual

2023 2022

Note $ $

Inflows

(Outflows)

Inflows

(Outflows)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts

Rates and Charges 15,744,022          14,577,792          

Interest Received 787,273               447,795               

Reimbursements and Contributions 532,474              419,099               

User Fees and Charges 1,761,507            1,697,910            

Operational Grants 7,057,597            6,143,938            

Distributions from Water Corporation 667,200               667,200               

Net Refunds from the Australian Tax Office 1,222,239            1,180,297            

Payments

Employee Costs (8,290,292)           (7,601,526)           

Materials and Contracts (13,069,082)         (9,562,113)           

Interest Expense (211,320)              (211,320)              

Other Expenses (137,980)              (121,959)              

Net cash provided by Operating Activities 39 6,063,638            7,637,113            

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from

Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 258,958               161,777               

Loaned Funds Repaid 4,710,792            -                      

Capital Grants 2,912,953            2,357,865            

Capital Contributions 12,850                 188,004               

Investments 27,961,376          24,387,027          

Payments for

Property, Plant and Equipment (6,149,812)           (7,195,476)           

Investments (30,318,712)         (29,728,814)         

Net cash used in Investing Activities (611,595)              (9,829,617)           

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Payments for

Borrowed Funds Repaid (3,600,000)           -                      

Net cash provided by Financing Activities 39 (3,600,000)           -                      

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash held 1,852,043            (2,192,504)           

Cash at the beginning of the year 598,646               2,791,150            

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the financial year 11 2,450,689            598,646               

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Motion to Close Meeting
Motion Close the meeting to the public for discussion of matters in the list of 

agenda items below. 

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(1).
 

Vote Absolute majority 

Closed Session Agenda
Confirmation of Closed Minutes

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s34(2).

Leave of Absence Applications

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(2)(h).

Contract No. 255 - 2023-24 - Quamby Brook, Roxford Road Bridge - Design and 
Reconstruction

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(2)(d) regarding contracts, and 
tenders, for the supply of goods and services and their terms, conditions, approval and renewal.

Contract No. 253 - 2023-24 - Blackstone Heights Intersection Improvement 

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(2))(d) regarding contracts, and 
tenders, for the supply of goods and services and their terms, conditions, approval and renewal.

Cluan Landfill - Acquisition of Existing Landfill Lease Area

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(2))(f) proposals for the council to 
acquire land or an interest in land or for the disposal of land.

Release of Public Information

Refer to Local Government (Meeting Procedures) Regulations 2015: s15(8).

Meeting End
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